
PENSION COMMITTEE
10.00 am

FRIDAY 10 MAY 2019

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





PENSION COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 10 May 2019
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest - Andrea Griffiths
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any financial or 
pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3.  Public Questions - Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written questions about matters that are within the 
powers and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10.00am on 2nd May 2019.

To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public.

Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which 
case a written answer will be supplied as soon as reasonably possible 
after the meeting.

4.  Members' Questions - Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time for 
the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 2nd May 2019.

5.  Minutes - (Pages 1 - 8) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 8th 
February 2019.

6.  Pension Board Minutes (Pages 9 - 14) Andrea Griffiths
The Committee is asked to note the minutes.  

7.  Pension Fund Risk Register (Pages 15 - 24) Mark Spilsbury
The Committee is asked to note the report.  

8.  Pension Fund Business Plan 2019/20 (Pages 25 - 32) Mark Spilsbury



9.  Market Valuations and Quarterly Performance Review of the 
Pension Fund: Quarter 1 (Pages 33 - 48)

Alex Bull

10.  Update on investments made with the Brunel Pension 
Partnership (Pages 49 - 50)

Mark Spilsbury

11.  Brunel Pension Partnership Performance Report for period 
ending 31 March 2019 (Pages 51 - 84)

Mark Mansley 
(BPP)

12.  Exclusion of the press and public Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Resolved

 That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following agenda items, because it is likely 
that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

13.  Exempt Minutes (Pages 85 - 92) Andrea Griffiths

To approve as a correct record the exempt minutes of the 
meetings held on 8th February 2019.

14.  Exempt Pension Board Minutes (Pages 93 - 98) Andrea Griffiths
The Committee are asked to note the exempt minutes.

15.  Independent Advisor Report (Pages 99 - 116) John Arthur

16.  Brunel Business Report 30 April 2019 Partnership (Pages 117 
- 144)

Mark Mansley 
(BPP)

17.  2019 Actuarial Valuation of the Fund (Pages 145 - 184) Julie West

18.  Actuarial Assumptions (Pages 185 - 242) Julie West

19.  Admission Body Requests (Pages 243 - 244) Mark Spilsbury

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Shaun Parsons, 
Cllr Rachel Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen and Cllr Nigel Moor



COOPTEES -   Cllr Nigel Cooper and Peter Clark

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 3284721 /fax: 42425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 8 February 2019 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr David Brown
Peter Clark

Apologies: Cllr Nigel Cooper and Cllr Nigel Moor FRTPI FRSA

In Attendance: Paul Blacker, Mark Spilsbury, Alex Bull, John Arthur (Independent 
Advisor) & Andrea Griffiths.

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

2. MINUTES - 

The minutes of the meeting held on the 9th November 2018 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the  Chairperson.  

Resolved 

That the public minutes of the meeting held on the 9th November 2018 be approved 
as a correct record.  

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were received.  

4. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No Members’ questions were received.  

5. PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of Pensions introduced the risk register explaining that the 
risk register was a live document and therefore it was important for it to reflect the 
discussion carried out by the committee.    

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the 
Committee, the following changes had been made: 

- A new risk A/R 1.2 has been added, which related to the resourcing of the 
Pension Administration Team, as requested at the November meeting.  

- F1; The likelihood of this residual risk had now been increased from a 2 to 3.  
- F4; The period comment had changed to a three year period
- F5; The likelihood of this residual risk had now been increased from a 2 to 3
- F8; Two of the high risk employers without guarantors have left the fund.  

One had repaid its cessation deficit of around £6m in full. The cessation 
deficit for the other employer (who left in January 2019) is currently being 
calculated. Once paid the scores relating to this risk would be reviewed 
again.

- F9; £510m has been transitioned to the BPP passive portfolio's and £350m 
to the BPP UK Equities active portfolio and a reconciliation has confirmed 
that all assets transitioned as expected.

- A/R5; Detailed reconciliation process completed and results returned to 
HMRC which has resulted in a significant reduction in potential liabilities.

- G6; This risk has slightly increased with the departure of the previous S151 
Officer who had accumulated significant expertise in this area, having had 
limited knowledge prior to her appointment. The acting S151 officer now 
takes up this role and is already increasing his knowledge in this area after 
discussions with the Head of Pensions, Actuary, and Independent Advisor to 
the Fund.

In relation to A/R1.2, officers explained that a short business case would be 
presented at the next Committee meeting in May.  

In response to a question it was noted that the Pension Regulator would look at 
fund returns and any areas of poor performance.  The Head of the Pension 
Fund explained that when the information was available the results would be 
presented to the Committee..  Members felt that it was necessary to get this 
right for the Pensioners within the fund.

During the discussion, members referred to a recent scam case and requested 
officers to check the best practice advice to give pensioners.  (Action : MS)

The Committee also requested that any amendments to the risk register 
continue to be highlighted  in order to focus attention on all changes made.  

Resolved 

That the committee noted the Risk Register

6. AWARD OF ACTUARIAL CONTRACT 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund, presented the actuarial services report.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

It was explained that, under delegated powers approved by Cabinet,  the Director of 
Strategic Finance had awarded a seven year contract to Hymans Robertson for the 
provision of actuarial services to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund. The contract 
was for an initial term of four years with an option to extend for a further three years 
at an estimated total value of £1.3 million.  

Providing this was passed without challenge, the Director of Strategic Finance 
authorised the Head of Legal Services to attach the Council’s seal to the contract 
and execute on behalf of the Council.  

Members were interested to learn why other parties had not tendered for this 
contract, the Head of the Pension Fund explained that the tender process had been 
adhered to and it was up to the individual companies to submit a bid.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the decision to award this contract to Hymans 
Robertson.  

7. CONSULTATION ON STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON ASSET POOLING IN THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME 

The Head of the Pension Fund presented the report.  Members were advised that 
the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) had issued draft 
guidance on asset pooling, and were inviting views on this draft guidance. 

The Committee noted that this would be an informal consultation with interested 
parties only, including the Scheme Advisory Board, Pensions Committees, Local 
Pension Boards, the pool Joint Committees or equivalent, the Cross Pool 
Collaboration Group, the pool operating companies where owned by participating 
funds, and CIPFA. 

It was intended that a Client Group workshop will be held with representatives of 
the Brunel Pension Partnership with a view of submitting a joint response to this 
consultation.  However, all Funds were also free to consider whether they wished to 
submit a fund response to the consultation.

In response to a question, members were advised the Pension Fund had a small 
allocation of £22million (around 1% of the funds assets)  invested in infrastructure.  
It was explained that Brunel were using specialist Infrastructure managers and 
advisor in relation to all investment portfolio’s including the Infrastructure one.  

The topic of geographically based social impact infrastructure was raised by a 
member of the Committee. Members were advised that there were rigid rules for 
the establishment of new  investment portfolios which were set out in a policy 
document, and any request would require the support of the Brunel Client Group 
comprised of the Head of Pension’s from each of the ten Pension Funds within the 
Brunel Pension Partnership..  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

The Committee requested that the Head of Pension’s raise this matter with his 
colleagues on the Client Group to see if there was any support for the creation of an  
infrastructure portfolio which targeted geographically based investments which 
delivered acceptable investment returns and positive local social impact outcomes. 
The Committee requested an update at the next meeting. (Action - MS).

In addition the Chairperson requested that the latest set of minutes from the Brunel 
Oversight Board were circulated to the committee for information.  (Action – MS) 

It was suggested that Brunel should be challenged in terms of transitions, in order 
to gauge their viewpoint.  Members were advised that Brunel would produce a 
transition costs report in due course on which the Independent Investment Advisor 
would be asked to comment..  

Members were requested to send any comments to officers before the end of the 
consultation period in relation to the pooling consultation..  (Action – Members)

Resolved 

That the Committee considered the draft statutory guidance on asset pooling.

8. MARKET VALUATIONS AND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REVIEW OF THE 
PENSION FUND: QUARTER 4 

Alex Bull, Finance Manager (Pension Investments and Finance), presented an 
overview of market valuations and an update on the performance of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme, (LGPS), as at 30 December 
2018. 

The report was sub-divided into four areas, detailing information on i) Manager 
Performance; ii) Asset Allocation; iii) Market Values, and iv) Cash Position. The 
Committee discussed the report in detail.  It was noted that slightly revised key 
figures were circulated at the meeting.  Members were advised that there was an 
overall fall in the fund value of around £175million in the last quarter of 2018, with 
all equity classes falling in value. However, during January 2019 there had been a 
recovery with around 50% of the fund reduction being recovered.   

The Committee were advised that the passive mandate had transferred to Legal & 
General via Brunel.  In addition, the Aberdeen Standard Life mandate had 
transitioned mid November 2018 and there was limited performance at this stage.  
It would be necessary to assess the performance over a longer period.  The 
Committee raised concerns regarding Aberdeen Standard Life’s poor performance 
whilst a manager to the fund, but noted that the manager would be delivering a 
different mandate under the Brunel Pension Partnership.  

It was agreed that the one page supporting paper on performance net of fees, 
should have the Brunel mandate’s  listed together for clarity. (Action : AB)  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Resolved 

That the performance report was noted.  

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

It was resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 & 5 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

10. EXEMPT MINUTES 

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 9th November 2018 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
  
Resolved 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 9th November 2018 be 
approved as a correct record.  

11. REPORT FROM THE INDEPENDENT ADVISOR TO THE FUND 

Independent Advisor, John Arthur, provided members with an update on current 
investments.  It was reported that the Pension Fund underperformed against its 
performance target in Q4 2018.  The level of underperformance was within risk 
tolerances, and it was reported that the fund was close to achieving its performance 
target over the medium and longer term.  The Committee were referred to the 
detailed Performance and Executive Summaries contained within the report.    

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

12. ADMISSION BODY REQUESTS 

The Finance Manager, Alex Bull presented the report in detail

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Officer’s recommendation.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

13. EMPLOYERS UPDATE 

The Head of the Pension Fund, Mark Spilsbury, updated members on the issues 
raised and outlined the current position.   

Resolved 

That the report be received.   

14. BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP UPDATE REPORT 

The Head of the Pension Fund, presented the report in detail.  The Committee were 
advised that the report summarised the key points included in the Brunel Pension 
Partnership Business Report and the minutes of the Brunel Oversight Board (BOB).  

Resolved

That the Committee noted the report.    

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 11.58 am

Page 6



Pension Committee – Feb 19

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 Pension Fund Risk 

Register 
Member’s referred to a recent scam case and 
requested officers to check the best practice 
advice to give pensioners.  

Mark Spilsbury The leaflet on Pension 
scams produced by the 
Pensions Regulator is sent 
out to all active and deferred 
members of the Fund with 
the Annual Benefit 
Statements. The leaflet is 
also sent out to all active 
members who are seeking to 
transfer their Pension out of 
the Gloucestershire LGPS to 
another Pension Fund. 

2 Consultation on Statutory 
Guidance on Asset 
Pooling in the Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme

The Committee requested that the Head of 
Pension’s raise this matter with his 
colleagues on the Client Group to see if there 
was any support for the creation of an  
infrastructure portfolio which targeted 
geographically based investments which 
delivered acceptable investment returns and 
positive local social impact outcomes. The 
Committee requested an update at the next 
meeting. 

In addition the Chairperson requested that 
the latest set of minutes from the Brunel 
Oversight Board were circulated to the 
committee for information.  

Members were requested to send any 
comments to officers before the end of the 
consultation period in relation to the pooling 
consultation.

Mark Spilsbury 

Mark Spilsbury 

Members 

This was raised with the 
Client Group. The firm view 
of the Client Group was that 
the BPP resources should 
be focused, at least for the 
next two financial years, on 
delivering the agreed 
investment portfolio’s in 
accordance with the 
implementation timetable 
agreed by the Client Group, 
the Oversight Board and the 
Shareholders.

These were circulated to 
members of the Committee 
on 27th March 2019..

No comments were received 
from members of the 
Committee.

P
age 7



316. Market Valuations and 
Quarterly Performance 
Review of the Pension 
Fund: Quarter 4

17.

18. The supporting paper on performance net of 
fees, should have the Brunel mandate’s  
listed together for clarity.  

Alex Bull This will be implemented for 
all future performance 
reports.

4 Brunel Pension 
Partnership Update Report

It was agreed that the appropriate Brunel 
Officers would be invited to attend at all 
meetings of the Committee as follows:

- February meetings : CEO of BPP to present 
the Annual Report of the BPP

- May meetings : CIO of BPP to present a 
performance report, with particular reference 
to the previous financial year

- September and November meetings : 
appropriate officers from the BPP to present 
relevant reports.

- It was noted that maximum time slots of 40 
minutes should be allocated for the BPP part 
of the agenda.  

Mark Spilsbury Attendance at these 
meetings has been 
programmed in by the 
relevant officers from the 
Brunel Pension Partnership.

P
age 8



- 1 -

PENSION BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Board held on Thursday 7 March 2019 
commencing at 10.00 am at the Meeting Room 5 - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Annette Benson
Sean Collins

Cllr Nigel Moor
Jon Topping

Apologies: Owen Shaw

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved

The public minutes of the Pension Board meeting held on 17th October 2018 
were agreed as a correct record of the meeting.

2. PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of Pensions introduced the risk register explaining that the 
risk register was a live document and it reflected the Committee discussion.  

Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the 
Committee, the following changes had been made: 

- A new risk A/R 1.2 has been added, which related to the resourcing of the 
Pension Administration Team, as requested at the November meeting.  

- F1; The likelihood of this residual risk had now been increased from a 2 to 3.  
- F4; The period comment had changed to a three year period
- F5; The likelihood of this residual risk had now been increased from a 2 to 3
- F8; Two of the high risk employers without guarantors have left the fund.  

One had repaid its cessation deficit of around £6m in full. The cessation 
deficit for the other employer (who left in January 2019) is currently being 
calculated. Once paid the scores relating to this risk would be reviewed 
again.

- F9; £510m has been transitioned to the BPP passive portfolio's and £350m 
to the BPP UK Equities active portfolio and a reconciliation has confirmed 
that all assets transitioned as expected.

- A/R5; Detailed reconciliation process completed and results returned to 
HMRC which has resulted in a significant reduction in potential liabilities. It 
was explained that the Pension Committee would be asked to remove this 
risk as its next meeting.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

- G6; This risk has slightly increased with the departure of the previous S151 
Officer who had accumulated significant expertise in this area, having had 
limited knowledge prior to her appointment. The acting S151 officer now 
takes up this role and is already increasing his knowledge in this area after 
discussions with the Head of Pensions, Actuary, and Independent Advisor to 
the Fund.

In relation to A/R1.2, officers explained that a short business case for the 
recruitment of additional staff would be presented at the next Committee meeting in 
May.  The Board fully endorsed the need for additional staff and requested that this 
be view be relayed to the Pension Committee.   (Action – MS / Cllr Moor) 

The Board felt there understanding of the risks was now far greater and welcomed 
the highlighted risk register in order to focus attention on all changes made.  

Resolved 

That the committee noted the Risk Register

3. PENSIONS CONTRACT DECISIONS 

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund, presented the contract decisions report.  

It was explained that, under delegated powers approved by Cabinet, the Director of 
Strategic Finance had awarded a seven year contract to Hymans Robertson for the 
provision of actuarial services to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund. The contract 
was for an initial term of four years with an option to extend for a further three years 
at an estimated total value of £1.3 million.  

The Board were interested to learn why other parties had not tendered for this 
contract, the Head of the Pension Fund explained that the tender process had been 
adhered to and it was up to the individual companies to submit a bid.  

Members were advised the amended Funding Strategy would be circulated in 
October 2019 and the appropriate group meetings with employers would be 
arranged in due course.  It was noted that officers planned to recommend to the 
Pension Committee slightly higher asset out-performance assumptions, which 
would have a positive impact on employer contributions.

The Board requested there next meeting is held in November, in order to discuss 
the Funding Strategy.  (Action – MS/AG)

The second contract awarded referred to Heywood Limited for the period from the 
1st April 2019 to 16th June 2023 for the provision of hosting services for the Altar 
Pension Administration System, the contract had an estimated value of £480,000.  

Resolved 

That the Board noted the contract decision reports.    

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

4. PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION PERFORMANCE 

The Board were pleased to note the improving performance  and remarked on the 
positive efforts made by the team.  The Head of the Pension Fund explained that 
further work was required, in order to achieve all of the six targets in 2018/19, it was 
noted that four of the targets had been achieved to date.  

The Board were advised that if a hardship case was submitted in the event of a 
death grant, then it would be prioritised accordingly.  The Board recognised the 
challenge and felt the Performance Indicators were doing there job.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

5. DRAFT GUIDANCE ON LGPS ASSET POOLING 

The Head of the Pension Fund presented the report.  Members were advised that 
the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) had issued draft 
guidance on asset pooling, and were inviting views on this draft guidance. 

The Board noted that this would be an informal consultation with interested parties 
only, including the Scheme Advisory Board, Pensions Committees, Local Pension 
Boards, the pool Joint Committees or equivalent, the Cross Pool Collaboration 
Group, the pool operating companies where owned by participating funds, and 
CIPFA. 

It was intended that a Client Group workshop will be held with representatives of 
the Brunel Pension Partnership with a view of submitting a joint response to this 
consultation.  However, all Funds were also free to consider whether they wished to 
submit a fund response to the consultation.

The Board discussed the report and felt that the wording in some areas needed to 
be tightened up.  Members felt that paragraph 7.2 could give the Government the 
opportunity to comeback on infrastructure investments in the future.  In response to 
a question, members were advised the Pension Fund had a small allocation 
invested in infrastructure.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the draft statutory guidance on asset pooling.

6. BRUNEL ANNUAL REPORT 

The Head of the Pension Fund informed the Board that the Annual Report was for 
information purposes.  

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

In response to a question, the Head of the Pension Fund explained the funds which 
had transitioned to Brunel in detail.  Members were advised that the transition was 
never going to be a low cost process, however the Brunel budget had increased 
from 2019/20 onwards and the Client Group had agreed to this increase in the 
context of the level of work needed to deliver all of the investment portfolio’s.  The 
Board noted that Brunel would be judged on there investment performance, in 
addition to the level of fee savings achieved.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

7. QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE TO END OF DECEMBER 2018 

The head of the Pension Fund presented the report.  Members were advised there 
was an overall fall in the fund value of around £175million in the last quarter of 
2018, with all equity classes falling in value. However, during January 2019 there 
had been a recovery with around 50% of the fund reduction being recovered.   The 
Board appreciated there was still a lot of volatility in the market.  However, long 
term the fund was still delivering against the benchmark.  

Resolved 

That the performance report was noted.  

8. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS & PUBLIC 

Resolved 

That In accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
it was resolved that the public should be excluded from the meeting for the 
following agenda items because it was likely that if members of the public 
were present at the meeting for these items there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12 A to the Act and that the public interest in withholding the information 
outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

9. EXEMPT MINUTES 

The Board requested that the Client Assurance Process be presented at its next 
meeting, in order to give the Board a view.  (Action – MS/AG)

Resolved

The exempt minutes of the Pension Board meeting held on 17th October 2018 
were agreed as a correct record of the meeting.

10. REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ADVISOR TO THE FUND 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Mark Spilsbury, Head of the Pension Fund gave an overview of the report, which 
was tailored for the Pension Committee by the Independent Advisor, John Arthur.  

It was reported that the Pension Fund underperformed against its performance 
target in Q4 2018.  The level of underperformance was within risk tolerances, and it 
was reported that the fund was close to achieving its performance target over the 
medium and longer term.  The Committee were referred to the detailed 
Performance and Executive Summaries contained within the report.    

The Board requested that in the future they also receive the Pension Committee 
minutes for information.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Members were requested to email officers if they had any items to be included on 
future agendas.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.22 am

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Pension Committee
10th May 2019

Review of the
Pension Fund Risk Register 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director

The attached Risk Register reflects the risks relating to the Pension Fund and 
indicates the significance of each risk.

As per previous reports the significance of individual risks is measured by a 
scoring system which multiplies the likelihood of the occurrence with the 
potential impact of such an occurrence. Both “likelihood” and “impact” are 
scored 1 – 5 and after multiplying both numbers together, the higher the 
product, the higher the risk.

Risk Score Range Risk Category
1 to 6 Low
7 to 12 Medium
13 to 25 High

The attached Risk Register shows each risk, scored before and after controls 
are in place (i.e. the inherent and residual risks).

The risks are referenced as follows:

Financial Risks (F)
Funding / Demography Risks (F/D)
Administration / Regulatory Risks (A/R)
Governance Risks (G)

Since the risk register was last considered by the Pension Committee in 
February 2019, the following changes, which are all highlighted in yellow in 
the updated risk register, have been made:

Risks F1 and F5 – Narrative updated to reflect the fact that the residual risk 
likelihood score has been reduced back to a 2 in the context of the full Q1 
2019 performance.

Risk F2 – Narrative updated to confirm that the Investment Strategy 
Statement and Strategic Asset allocation will be amended following a review 
to be undertaken later in 2019/20 once the results of the 2019 valuation are 
available.

Risk F8 – narrative has been updated to reflect the fact that both of the 
employers who have left the fund have now paid their cessation debts in full.

Risk F/D6 – Narrative updated to reflect the possibility of introducing an ill 
health liability insurance process under which all employers are included 
within a blanket cover policy unless they formally opt out.

Risk A/R 1.2 – narrative amended to reflect the intention to increase the 
number of Senior Pension Officers, as set out in the Business Plan report 
elsewhere ion the agenda.

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



Recommendation

That the Committee notes the risk register.

Contact Officer

Mark Spilsbury - Head of Pension Fund (01452 328920)

Page 16



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

PENSION FUND RISK REGISTER UPDATED IN APRIL 2019 FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE PENSION COMMITTEE IN MAY 2019

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R

F1
Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the 
anticipated returns underpinning valuation of 
liabilities over the long-term

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Only anticipate long-term return on a 
relatively prudent basis to reduce risk of 
under-performing.
Assets invested on the basis of specialist 
advice, in a suitably diversified manner 
across asset classes, geographies, 
managers, etc.
Analyse progress at three yearly 
valuations for all employers.  
Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities 
between valuations at whole Fund level.   
Actuarial Review on a like for like basis 
has confirmed a strong deficit recovery 
plan.

2 4 8 ▼ Financial

Due to increased uncertainty regarding 
BREXIT and other political risks and 
possible negative long term implications, 
this risk is continually monitored to 
determine whether the  likelihood of this 
risk materialising needs to be increased. In 
the context of the significant reduction in 
the value of the Funds assets during 
quarter 4 in 2018, the residual risk 
likelihood was increased from a 2 to a 3 in 
January 2019. In the context of the returns 
for the full Q1 2019 the liklihood score has 
been returned to a 2.

11/04/2019

F2 Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Regular monitoring of Fund's cash flow 
with actuarial estimates of future cash 
flow position.                               Overall 
investment strategy options including 
diversification considered as an integral 
part of the funding strategy.  Use of asset 
liability modelling.   Actuarial Review on a 
like for like basis has confirmed a strong 
deficit recovery plan.

2 4 8 ► Financial

Phased movement to new allocation is 
being undertaken in the context of reducing 

exposure to equities whilst maintaining 
adequate returns and minimising new 

transition costs before the transition into 
the Brunel Pension Partnership. A slightly 
amended asset allocation to the various 
investment portfolio's available under the 

BPP was agreed by the Pension 
Committee at it's February 18 meeting. 
The Investment Strategy Statement and 

Strategic Asset allocation will be amended 
following a review to be undertaken later in 

2019/20 once the results of the 2019 
valuation are available.

11/04/2019

F3 Fall in risk-free returns on Government bonds, 
leading to rise in value placed on liabilities.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund 
level allows for the probability of this 
within a longer term context.  
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above.
Some investment in bonds helps to 
mitigate this risk.   Actuarial Review on a 
like for like basis has confirmed a strong 
deficit recovery plan.

3 3 9 ► Financial

Falling Govt Bond yields is reducing the 
discount rate (the level of expected 
investment returns) which increases the 
value placed on past service liabilities, 
which was why the Residual Risk likelihood 
score was increased to a 3 in November 
2018.

11/04/2019

F4 Increasing Pension Fund deficit The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Actuarial review via Triennial Valuation 
and regular update reports.
Regular consideration by Pension 
Committee on manager performance 
relative to funding assumptions, funding 
position and funding strategy.  Actuarial 
Review on a like for like basis has 
confirmed a strong deficit recovery plan.

3 3 9 ► Financial

Funding deficit reduced at 2016 Fund 
Valuation and performance over the last 3 
year period exceed the anticipated returns 
used as part of the 2016 valuation.

11/04/2019

Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

1e

P
age 17



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F5 Active investment manager under-performance 
relative to benchmark.

Maximising investment returns to help 
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses 
market performance and active managers 
relative to their index benchmark.  
Diversification of investments across 
asset classes and across different fund 
managers

2 3 6 ▼ Financial

Performance in the current portfolio's and 
in the new BPP portfolio's will be monitored 
against agreed performance targets and 
will be reported back to the Committee on 
a quarterly basis. However in the context of 
the performance in quarter 4 of 2018 the 
likelihood of this risk has been increased 
from a 2 to a 3.  In the context of the 
returns for the full Q1 2019 the liklihood 
score has been returned to a 2.

11/04/2019

F6 Pay and price inflation significantly more than 
anticipated.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 2 8

The focus of the actuarial valuation 
process is on real returns on assets, net 
of price and pay increases. 
Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, 
gives early warning. 
Some investment in index-linked bonds 
also helps to mitigate this risk.  
Employers pay for their own salary 
awards and should be mindful of the 
geared effect on pension liabilities of any 
bias in pensionable pay rises towards 
longer-serving employees.  

3 2 6 ► Financial 11/04/2019

F7 Unexpected increase in employer’s contribution 
rate 

To stabilise changes in employer 
contribution rates over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has 
been agreed for eligible employers as part 
of the funding strategy.  Other measures 
are also in place to limit sudden increases 
in contributions.
Obtain information on financial strength of 
individual employers. Discuss with 
employers their ability to absorb rises in 
their level of contribution.
Where appropriate mitigate impact 
through deficit spreading and phasing in 
of contribution rises, with appropriate 
security from employers and further 
analysis by the Fund’s actuary.

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/04/2019

F8 Employers without a guarantor fail financially 
leaving a deficit with the Fund.

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or 
security/guarantor) to minimise the risk of 
this happening in the future. At risk 
employers are identified and are engaged 
in discussions over remedial actions in 
advance of retirement of all active 
members. 
If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the 
added cost spread pro-rata among all 
employers 

2 3 6 ► Financial

Two high risk employers without 
guarantors left the fund between March 
2018 and January 2019. Both have now 
repaid theirs cessation deficits of around 
£6m  and £6.2m respectively.

11/04/2019

F9 Financial loss experienced during the transitioning 
of Assets to the new Brunel Portfolio's

Maximising investment returns to help 
the Fund achieve its funding target

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 5 15

Detailed reconciliation of assets 
transferred undertaken by the Finance 
and Investments Manager. Detailed report 
from transition experts commissioned by 
the Brunel PP will be produced following 
each transition to provide assurance to 
clients.

2 4 8 New Financial

£510m has been transitioned to the BPP 
passive portfolio's and £345m to the BPP 
UK Equities active portfolio and a 
reconciliation has confirmed that all assets 
transitioned as expected.

11/04/2019

P
age 18



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D1 Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to 
Fund.

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 2 10

Set mortality assumptions with some 
allowance for future increases in life 
expectancy.
The Fund Actuary has direct access to 
the experience of over 50 LGPS funds 
which allows early identification of 
changes in life expectancy that might in 
turn affect the assumptions underpinning 
the valuation.
The Fund also sets life expectancy 
assumptions using ClubVita, which is a 
specialised longevity company and 
provides life expectancy assumptions 
based on the profile of the Fund’s own 
membership.
Administering Authority encourage any 
employers concerned at costs to promote 
later retirement culture.  Each 1 year rise 
in the average age at retirement would 
save roughly 5% of pension costs.  

3 2 6 ► Financial 11/04/2019

F/D2

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 
contributing employees declines relative to retired 
employees leading to the possibility of there not 
being sufficient liquid funds available to pay 
liabilities as they fall due.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Continue to monitor at each valuation, 
seeking monetary amounts rather than % 
of pay. Between valuations regularly 
monitor level of active members on both a 
total Fund basis and by individual 
employer. Regularly monitor how cash 
flow positive the Fund is. Regularly review 
investment strategy.

2 3 6 ► Financial

The Fund commissioned Hymans 
Robertson to undertake cash flow 
modelling based on the following three 
scenarios:
Scenario 1 – cash flows projections based 
on 2016 valuation membership data, 
Scenario 2 – cash flows projections based 
on 2016 valuation membership data, with a 
20% reduction in actives, Scenario 3  - with 
a 40% reduction in active members. This 
modelling indicated that the fund will 
remain cashflow positive until 2033 under 
scenario1, to 2026 under scenario 2 and 
would immediately become casflow 
negative under scenario 3. Given that 
active membership in the Gloucestershire 
scheme is still increasing slightly it is felt 
that scenario 1 is the most likely outcome 
for the fund.

11/04/2019

P
age 19



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D3 A company admitted to the Fund as an admission 
body may become financially unviable

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

A transferee admission body will always 
have a funding guarantee from the 
transferring scheme employer. A 
community admission body will only be 
admitted to the Fund if they have a 
funding guarantee from a scheme 
employer with tax raising powers. A surety 
bond to cover the cost of paying pensions 
early if the company goes into liquidation 
is also generally required by the scheme 
employer to cover the potential risk of the 
admitted body becoming insolvent and the 
value of this surety or bond is reviewed 
regularly to ensure it provides adequate 
cover for the financial risks involved

3 3 9 ► Financial 11/04/2019

F/D4 Deteriorating patterns of early retirements
To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Employers are charged the extra cost of 
non ill-health retirements following each 
individual decision.
Employer ill health retirement experience 
is monitored, and insurance is an option.

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/04/2019

F/D5 Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit 
recovery payments

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Require employers to pay sums due for 
deficit recovery contributions as a fixed 
monetary amount rather than being 
expressed as a % of pay.

2 3 6 ► Financial 11/04/2019

F/D6 Ill-health retirements significantly more than 
anticipated

To ensure individual employers in the 
Fund are responsible for their own 
costs 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Monitoring of each employer’s ill-health 
experience on an ongoing basis. The 
employer may be charged additional 
contributions if this exceeds the ill-health 
assumption built in. Ill health insurance is 
available to be purchased by individual 
employers

2 3 6 ► Financial

The possibility / feasibility of introducing a 
new ill health liability insurance procedure 
under which all employers within the fund 
are included within an overall policy 
arranged by the fund, and are rechaged 
premiums within contribution rates, unless 
they formally opt out of the blanket cover 
policy. This will reduce the risks to the 
Fund of an employer not being able to pay 
the pension strain costs resulting from an 
ill health retirement.

11/04/2019

F/D7

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment strategy 
and employer contributions if large numbers of 
active members are outsourced on a “closed” (to 
new entrants) basis

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

Take advice from the Fund actuary on the 
likely impact this will have on Fund 
investment out performance assumptions 
and employer contributions. Monitor levels 
of outsourcings on a “closed” basis and 
advise employers of implications so these 
are taken into account when they consider 
the business case for an outsourcing. 
Regularly review investment strategy and 
strategic asset allocation.

2 3 6 ► Financial
No significant impact to date, but the risk 
will continue to be monitored on a regular 
basis.

11/04/2019

P
age 20



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

F/D8
Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes due to 
introduction of "Freedom & Choice" resulting in a 
change in funding level

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

Taken advice from the Fund actuary on 
the proportion of the Fund's active and 
deferred members aged 55 or over and 
the maximum exposure of the Fund to 
these transfers, split between active and 
deferred members. Considered impact on 
funding level given different possible 
levels of take up from active and deferred 
members.

2 2 4 ► Financial 11/04/2019

A/R1.1

Significant additional costs resulting from changes 
to national pension requirements and/or HMRC 
rules e.g. changes arising from public sector 
pensions reform, and/or more complex regulations 
requiring increased administration resources.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 3 9

The Administering Authority considers all 
consultation papers issued by the 
Government and comments where 
appropriate. Considered different % take 
up scenarios for active and deferred 
members
The results of the most recent reforms 
have been built into the 2013 valuation.  
Any changes to member contribution 
rates or benefit levels will be carefully 
communicated with members to minimise 
possible opt-outs or adverse actions. 

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

In order to effectively deal with the 
increased workload emanating from the 
new 2016 CARE scheme, additional 
pensions officers were recuited to in the 
Pension Administration Team during 2016 
as stage 1 of a review of the Pension 
Administration Team. A further four staff 
members have now been recuited in 2018 
under stage 2 of the review. Stage 3 of the 
review is now being proposed which is to 
increase the number of senior pension 
officers by three, from fiour to seven. 

11/04/2019

A/R 1.2

Under resourcing of Pension Administration staff 
resulting in a deterioration of performance against 
key performance indicators and/or intervention from 
the Pensions Regulator.

Experience indicates that intervention 
by the Pensions Regulator has major 
implications in terms of increased 
workload and/or adverse financial 
implications.

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

This risk is regularly monitored and, as 
detailed in risk A/R 1.1 actions have 
already been taken to increase the level 
of Pensions Officers in order to improve 
performance against key performance 
indicators.

3 3 9 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory

Although adequate actions have been 
taken to address the performance issues 
in the context of the increased 
administration burdens of the career 
average pension scheme, significant risks 
still exist in relation to fully meeting the 
standards required by the Pension 
Regulator and to deal with the increased 
complexities of things such as annual and 
lifetime allowances. To address these risks 
it is intended to implement stage 3 of the 
Pension Administration Team review 
during 2019/20. This is likely to involve an 
increase in the number of SEnior Pension 
Officers. The financial implications of these 
liekely changes will be built into the budget 
proposal for 2019/20 which will be included 
within the Business Plan submitted to the 
May 2019 meeting of the Pension 
Committee.

11/04/2019

A/R2 Failure to collect and account for contributions from 
employers and employees on time

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Regular monthly monitoring and 
reconciliation of Fund contributions 
received, including a detailed analysis of 
individual employer contributions and 
employee contributions by pay banding. 
Robust debt management processes are 
in place  to recover any late payments

2 3 6 ► Legislative & 
Regulatory 11/04/2019

P
age 21



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

A/R3 Loss of funds through fraud or misappropriation

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Procedures and processes are in place 
and applied in relation to eg: checking for 
"ghost" scheme members;  multiple levels 
of authorisation for claims and fund 
payments plus secondary checking of 
lump sum payments. Procedures are 
documented and staff are trained and 
managed in carrying these out. The 
Fund's internal auditors carry out regular 
reviews.

2 3 6 ► Fraud

The funds internal auditors regularly review 
the adequacy of controls within the 
Pensions Section. These reviews make 
use of experienced Counter Fraud staff 
who are available to the internal auditors.

11/04/2019

A/R4

Does the fund have sufficient resources to provide 
sufficient input to the development of the Brunel 
Pension Partnership in the context of the 
importance of ensuring that the partnership 
operates in an efficient and effective manner.

To ensure the fund is proactive in the 
development of the proposals and the 
robust control environment required for 
the collective management of assets, 
to avoid a detrimental impact on the 
fund. 

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Additional staffing resources may be 
required to facilitate dedicated staffing 
resources to take forward the pooling 
proposal. This may require additional 
contributions from participating funds.

2 3 6 ► Legislative & Regu

Now that the partnership has developed to 
the establishment of the new company, 
with senior appointments being made, 
limited senior officer resources can now be 
more directed at the important client side 
roles, including looking at the adequacy of 
control systems.

11/04/2019

A/R5

Failure to undertake a full reconciliation of 
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions records held on the 
Gloucestershire LGPS Altair system with those held 
by HMRC could result in additional financial costs 
to the Gloucestershire Fund.

Additional financial costs to the Fund Head of Pension 
Fund 5 3 15

A detailed reconciliation procedure has 
commenced and a large number of 
discrepancies have been identified where 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund is not 
liable for GMP payments held on HMRC 
records.

2 3 6 ► Governance

Detailed reconciliation process completed 
and results returned to HMRC which has 
resulted in a significant reduction in 
potential iabilities.

11/04/2019

G1

Administering Authority unaware of structural 
changes in an employer’s membership (e.g. large 
fall in employee members, large number of 
retirements) or not advised of an employer closing 
to new entrants

The achievement of fully funded 
pension liabilities over the long term

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority has a close 
relationship with employing bodies and 
communicates required standards e.g. for 
submission of data. 
The Actuary may revise the rates and 
Adjustments certificate to increase an 
employer’s contributions (under 
Regulation 38) between triennial 
valuations

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/04/2019

G2
Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or is 
not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in some 
way

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority maintains 
close contact with its specialist advisers.
Advice is delivered via formal meetings 
involving Elected Members, and recorded 
appropriately.
Actuarial advice is subject to professional 
requirements such as peer review

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/04/2019

G3
Administering Authority failing to commission the 
Fund Actuary to carry out a termination valuation 
for a departing Admission Body.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

The Administering Authority requires 
employers with Best Value contractors  ( 
Transferee Admission Bodies) to inform it 
of forthcoming changes. The 
administering authority also monitors 
contract periods of Transferee Admission 
Bodies and regularly monitors levels of 
active employees across all employers 
but particularly for Community Admission 
Bodies. Where their active membership 
materially decreases further steps are 
taken.

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/04/2019

P
age 22



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

G4 Failure to comply with the Myners’ Investment 
Principles

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Compliance as detailed in the Statement 
of Investment Principles is kept under 
regular review. 

2 3 6 ► Governance 11/04/2019

G5
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge,skills and 
resources at officer and member level in relation to 
administering the LGPS

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 3 12

Training needs assessments for the 
Administering Authority are carried out 
and an annual training plan produced. The 
Fund subscribes to the CIPFA Knowledge 
and Skills Framework for the LGPS and 
makes this information available to all 
members of the Pension Committee and 
relevant officers. Appropriately qualified 
external advisers and consultants are 
used as appropriate.

3 3 9 ► Governance

This risk has slightly increased with the 
departure of the previous S151 Officer who 
had accumulated significant expertise in 
this area, having had limited knowledge 
prior to her appointment. The acting S151 
officer now takes up this role and is 
already increasing his knowledge in this 
area after discussions with the Head of 
Pensions, Actuary, and Independent 
Advisor to the Fund.

11/04/2019

G6 Failure to internally hold personal data securely and 
keep pension records up-to-date and accurate

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 4 4 16

Personal data and scanned documents 
relating to scheme members are 
maintained in an online system with 
logical access controls via individual 
password access for those that need to 
maintain and access this information. 
Procedures for maintaining pension 
records are documented and the process 
is monitored and managed within the 
Pensions Administration team. 
Procedures are regularly reviewed by the 
Fund's internal auditors. Physical access 
controls are also in operation within the 
Pension Fund office. 

1 4 4 ► Governance 11/04/2019

G7

Loss of experience on the Pension Fund 
Committee or Pension Board, and/or the lack of 
adequate training, resulting in a negative impact on 
governance arrangements within the 
Gloucestershire LGPS.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

Training is provided on an on-going basis 
to Committee and Board Members both at 
formal meetings of the Committee/Board 
and at internal and external training 
sessions.

1 4 4 ► Governance 11/04/2019

G8

Transition from the current custodian to State 
Street Bank under the Brunel Pension Partnership 
resulting in failings during the transition and/or 
inadequate performance reports post transition 
and/or negative impacts on the final accounts of the 
Pension Fund due to failings in the accounting 
reports received from State Street Bank

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 3 4 12

Detailed control procedures implemented 
during the transition with supoort from a 
transition manager working for the Brunel 
Pension Partnership

1 3 3 ▼ Governance

No major problems were encoutered 
during the transitions undertaken to date 
and assets transferred were reconciled 
back to the detailed records held by each 
manager.

11/04/2019

G9

Failure to comply with the General Data Protection 
Regulation resulting in breaches which have to be 
reported to the Pension Regulator and the 
Information Commissioners Office resulting in 
compliants from scheme members and/or 
significant financial fines. 

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 4 20

Detailed guidance and support was 
obtained from the GCC Information 
Management Team which resulted in 
additional guidance being provided on the 
Pension Fund website to meet the 
requirements of GDPR.

3 4 12 ► Governance

Detailed guidance and support was 
obtained from the GCC Information 
Management Team which resulted in 
additional guidance being provided on the 
Pension Fund website to meet the 
requirements of GDPR.

11/04/2019

P
age 23



Gloucestershire LGPS Pension Fund  Risk Register Version: 1d

L/V I/B R L/V I/B R Period Comments / Additional Actions

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review.

Inherent Risk 
or Opportunity

Controls

Residual Risk 
or Opportunity

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 T
ra

ve
l 

Ref Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity or 
Consequences  if risk occurs and 
related objectives Owner

Category of Risk 
or Opportunity

G10

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key 
information and data as a result of exploited 
technological vulnerabilities facilitated through 
malicious attack, primarily from external sources.

Efficient management of the Fund by 
the Administering Authority, ensuring 
it's responsibilities are met, while costs 
are minimised

Head of Pension 
Fund 5 4 20

Anti-malware and internet security 
software. Patch management policies and 
procedures. Compliance with PSN. 
Internal and External ICT security 
testing.Manging user privileges.

3 3 9 ► Governance 11/04/2019

P
age 24



1

Pension Committee
10th May 2019

Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund

Business Plan 2019-20

Report of the Strategic Finance Director
1. Introduction

This Business Plan has been prepared in accordance with the Department for 
Communities & Local Government (CLG) best practice guidance for the governance of 
Pension Funds. 

2. Background

As at 31st March 2019, the Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Fund had 55,468 members consisting of 19,026 active, 20,414 deferred and 16,028 
retired (pensioner/dependant) members. There are 207 active employer bodies in the 
Fund.  The value of investment assets under management at 31st March 2019 was £2.37 
billion.

The Pension Committee is responsible for the proper administration of all aspects of the 
Fund and has been delegated this authority by the County Council, as Administering 
Authority of the Fund.

3. Key Issues to be considered by the Pension Committee

The Committee aims to ensure the maximising of investment returns over the long term 
within an acceptable level of risk, in the context of the Investment Strategy and the Fund’s 
Risk Register. This includes reviewing the Fund Managers’ performance as set out in the 
quarterly performance reports which are provided to the Committee on a quarterly basis, 
taking account of views and recommendations .made by officers of the fund, including the 
Independent Advisor. The Committee also have to ensure that, over the long term, there 
are sufficient assets readily available to meet all Fund liabilities. 

Another key investment issue to be considered by the Pension Committee is the Brunel 
Pension Partnership, which the Gloucestershire Fund has joined, which became fully 
operational as an FCA regulated company from 1 April 2018 in accordance with 
Government requirements. 

During 2018/19 a significant proportion of the funds investments were transferred to the 
Brunel Pension Partnership as each of the partnerships investment mandates became 
operational. As at the 31st March 2019, £862 million of the funds assets had been 
invested in new Brunel Portfolio’s, whilst an additional £560 million has been committed to 
new Brunel Portfolio’s which will be transitioned during 2019/20.

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



2

There are also a number of key policy and strategy documents which the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations require to be produced and these 
need to be kept under regular review. These can accessed on the County Council’s web 
site (www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensionsinvestments) and are listed below:

Funding Strategy Statement

This sets down the strategy for prudently meeting the Fund’s future pension liabilities over 
the longer term, including the maintenance, as far as possible, of stable levels of 
employer contributions. It also identifies key risks and controls facing the Fund and 
includes details of employer contribution rates following the Fund’s triennial valuation.

The Fund, working with it’s actuaries Hymans Robertson, will undertake a review of the 
Funding Strategy Statement once the results of the 2019 valuation have been finalised. 
This will then lead to the Funding Strategy Statement being updated and consulted on 
with all of the employers within the Fund, before being formally agreed by the Pension 
Committee by the end of February 2020.

Investment Strategy Statement

The Investment Strategy Statement has been prepared in accordance with the LGPS - 
Management & Investment of Funds Regulations, which came into force from 1 
November 2016. These regulations introduced a prudential framework for investment 
decision making, and a Power of Direction for the Secretary of State to intervene in the 
investment function of an Administering Authority if deemed necessary, and also requires 
all funds to publish a new Investment Strategy Statement (ISS), which includes the 
Strategic Asset allocation by 1 April each year.

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has also outlined new 
guidance on preparing and maintaining an Investment Strategy Statement which replaces 
the Statement of Investment Principles (SIP). 

In order to comply with the guidance, administering authorities must take proper advice as 
part of the formulation of the Investment Strategy Statement and new Investment 
Strategy. 

The Fund will undertake a review of the Strategic Asset allocation and the Investment 
Strategy Statement after the actuarial valuation has been completed during 2019/20, 
taking detailed advice from an investment specialist in order to meet the requirements set 
out above.

The new Investment Strategy Statement and Strategic Asset Allocation which will be 
implemented in stages from 1 April 2020, will be agreed by the Gloucestershire Pension 
Committee by the end of February 2020 and will be placed on the Gloucestershire LGPS 
website. 

Page 26

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensionsinvestments


3

Communications Strategy

This details how the Fund provides information and publicity about the Pension scheme to 
its existing members and their employers, as well as methods of promoting the Pension 
scheme to prospective members and their employers. It also identifies the format, 
frequency and method of distributing such information or publicity. This strategy will be 
reviewed during 2019/20 and will be agreed by the Gloucestershire Pension Committee in 
November 2019 and will be placed on the Gloucestershire LGPS website. 

Governance Compliance Statement 

The LGPS Regulations require Administering Authorities to prepare a written statement 
setting out their compliance with best practice governance principles. These best practice 
principles are grouped within eight categories and are listed within the statement. The 
Fund’s compliance against each of these principles is also detailed, including evidence of 
compliance and, if appropriate, reasons if there is not full compliance. This will be 
reviewed during 2019/20 and will be agreed by the Pension Committee by the end of 
February 2020.

Governance Policy Statement 

This document details the arrangements put in place by the Administering Authority for 
the administration of the Pension scheme. These include the terms of reference of the 
Pension Committee and the appropriate governance arrangements which will reflect the 
eight categories of best practice principles as outlined in the Governance Compliance 
Statement. This will be reviewed during 2019/20 and will be agreed by the Pension 
Committee by the end of February 2020.

2019/20 is the financial year in which the full actuarial valuation of the fund will be 
undertaken. This valuation, which will be overseen by the Pension Committee, examines, 
in detail, the assets and liabilities of all of the employers within the Fund, sets the 
employers contribution rates covering the financial years 2020/21 to 2022/23, and will 
determine the overall funding level of the Gloucestershire Fund.

In addition to the above, during 2019/20, the Pension Committee will agree the annual 
report and annual accounts relating of the Fund covering the 2018/19 financial year. The 
Committee will also receive six monthly updates on the performance of the pension 
administration team, comparing actual performance against the agreed performance 
indicators set out later in this plan, and will consider the updated risk register at each 
meeting of the Committee.

Page 27



4

4. Key Targets & Major Milestones for the Pension Fund in 2019/20

The major targets and milestones for 2019/20 are detailed below.

Task Measure of Performance

Effectively transition assets of the Fund to Meeting transition timetable and 
the new managers appointed by the Brunel minimising transition costs.
Pension Partnership (BPP).

Continue to input into the governance Effective service delivery by the
arrangements within the BPP including BPP.
the Client Group and Oversight Board.

Ensure the collection of, and accounting for, Full collection and correct 
£100m+ of employer and employee accounting within final accounts
contributions from Fund employers.

Pension Fund Accounts completed by 24/05/19 Meet specified time scales
for publication by 30/5/19

Action any DCLG requirements re the future Meet specified time scales
structure of the LGPS, including investments

Accounts agreed by the Audit Committee No qualification of a/c’s by Auditor
on 26th July 2019

To administer pension benefits in accordance No material breaches that need
with the LGPS regulations, and the guidance to be reported to the Pension
set out by the Pension Regulator. Regulator.

Issue the Annual Benefit Statements to all Meet specified time scales
Fund Members by the end of August 2019 

2018/19 Annual Pension Fund Report produced Discussed at Annual Meeting  
And printed by 31/10/19.

Update Pension Strategy Statements: For agreement by Committee by:
 Funding Strategy Statement End February 2020
 Investment Strategy Statement End February 2020
 Communications Strategy End November 2019
 Governance Policy and Compliance End February 2020

Statement
In house training for Committee and Board Relevance of topics covered 

To continue with regional training events in Provision of training events 
relation to the Brunel Pension Partnership

Page 28



5

5. Pension Fund Financial Estimates

The costs of operating the Gloucestershire Pension Fund are borne by the Fund (and not 
by the County Council). The estimated costs for 2019/20 are shown below and are split 
between “Investments, Accounting &Financial Management” and “Scheme 
Administration”. For comparison purposes the previous year’s estimates are also shown. 

“Investments, Accounting &Financial Management” includes the cost of Fund Managers, 
the Brunel Pension Partnership costs and other external costs, as well as the internal 
costs of producing and maintaining the Fund’s accounting records and statements. 

“Scheme Administration” includes the internal costs of dealing with the Fund’s members 
and employers in relation to current/future benefits and compliance with scheme 
regulations, as well as external costs such as IT and actuarial costs in supporting Fund 
administration and the Triennial Valuation.

ESTIMATES 2018/19
        
2019/20

£’000  £’000   £’000      £’000
Investments, Accounting & 
Financial Management
Staff costs 358 372
Other internal costs 63 67
External Fund Manager fees 6,500 5,800
Other external costs 895 1,211
Sub Total of Investments Costs 7,816 7,450

Scheme Administration including 
Member Records & Benefits
Staff costs 674 755
Other internal costs 297 354
External costs 481 584
Sub Total of Administration Costs 1,452 1,693

Total 9,268 9,143

The main budget changes between 2018/19 and 2019/20 are:

Investment Costs

The budget for External Fund Manager costs has been reduced by £700,000 to reflect the 
removal of the budget provision for a potentially large performance fee that could have 
been payable under a previous investment mandate, prior to the establishment of the 
Brunel Active UK mandate, together with other forecast fee reductions during 2019/20.

Page 29



6

The budget for “Other external costs” has increased by £316,000. This increase is due to 
the estimated increase in Brunel Pension Partnership costs that will be chargeable to the 
Fund , following the increase in the BPP budget in 2019/20, as approved via a Special 
Reserve Matter approved by all of the Shareholders of the BPP.

Scheme Administration including Member Records & Benefits

The budget for staff costs is increased by £81,000 (fye). This increase is to facilitate the 
third stage of an increased resource plan for the pension administration team.

As has been previously reported to the Pension Committee and Pension Board, the last 
few years have seen unprecedented change in the level of legislative and statutory 
responsibilities imposed on the administration of the LGPS. The introduction of the new 
CARE scheme, and increased record keeping and reporting requirements from the 
Pension’s Regulator, being the most notable.

The increased complexity not only affects the day-to-day administration of the scheme, 
but has also impacted substantially on the level of technical support the pensions section 
is required to provide to active employee members of the fund in terms of options 
available to them, and the growing number of employers in terms of understanding the 
legislation.

In line with other LGPS funds, Gloucestershire has already commenced increasing staff 
to cope the additional demands, but due the high level of training and support required for 
new recruits, has approached this on a “staged” basis to ensure the section was able to 
cope with the additional training pressures, whilst still providing a good level of customer 
service. 

To date the actual establishment of the team has increased from 13.64 fte posts in 2016 
to 18.9 fte posts as at 31 March 2019, following the successful recruitment of seven new 
Pension Officers.

The management team now feel that later this year will be the time to move to the next 
stage and commence work on appointing up to three additional posts at a slightly more 
senior level to Pensions Officers, to increase the current fte at this more senior level from 
3.8 fte’s to around 6.8 fte’s. This is with the objective of targeting the more technical 
areas, particularly around processing of retirements and death grants, which will in turn 
have a positive effect on the key performance indicators. The additional posts will also 
support the wider function to ensure that the pension section continues to meet increasing 
statutory obligations, e.g. additional Pensions Regulator requirements.

The budget for external costs has increased by £103,000 which is due to the additional 
costs relating to the hosting of the Altair Pension Administration software, following the 
award of a contract commencing on the 1st April 2019 to Heywood Limited, as reported to 
the Pension Committee.

Page 30



7

6 Administrative/Training Targets for the Committee 

Members to attend at least 60% of Pension Committee meetings each year.

To complete a bi-annual assessment on training needs for all members of the Pension 
Committee based on the CIPFA knowledge and skills framework. To use the results of 
the assessment to identify any areas where knowledge and skill levels need to be 
improved. 

In addition, the Committee have agreed individuals should carry out a minimum of 1 days 
training each year via any combination of the following:  attendance on regional briefings 
on the Brunel Pension Partnership, attendance on internal training events and external 
courses/conferences/seminars; reading briefing notes/policy documents; reading and 
discussing reports at Pension Committee. 

Committee minutes to be issued within two months of a meeting 

Committee papers to be sent out 5 working days before a meeting.

To regularly review and agree changes to strategy/policy documents. All strategy/policy 
documents will be considered by Committee at least every three years, even if no 
changes are recommended. 

7. Administrative Targets for the Pension Fund

Service Standards – Processing tasks within internal 
targets

Target Achievement %

Issue estimates to employees within15 days 90%

Process retirements and lump sums within15 days 90%

Pay refunds within 15 days 90%

Pay death grants within 8 days 90%

Issue Annual Benefits Statements within the statutory 
deadline

100%

Pay Transfers Out” within15 days 90%

Pension Fund Accounts produced by statutory deadline 30/5/2018

Annual report produced by statutory deadline 31/10/2018

The Pension Committee and Pension Board receive regular reports on the actual 
achievement against these performance targets.

Contact Officer

Mark Spilsbury – Head of Pension Fund (01452328920)

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund

Performance Report - Q1 to 31st March 2019

Performance by Manager vs Benchmark and Performance Target

Market Value 

31.12.18

Market Value 

31.03.19

Manager Mandate Inception Date £000's £000's

Actual 

Performance 

%

Benchmark %
Actual 

Performance %

Benchmark 

%

Actual 

Performance %

Benchmark 

%

Actual 

Performance 

%

Benchmark %

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates

Aberdeen Standard - GARS Global Absolute Return Nov-12 75,219           78,167          3.8 1.5 0 6.0 0.8 5.7 2.8 5.7

Blackrock Emerging Markets Emerging Markets Passive Jan-12 132,891         142,740        7.4 7.4 -0.1 -0.3 14.5 14.4 7.3 7.0

Blackrock Global Global Equities Apr-05 431,158         476,518        10.5 9.6 8.1 10.5 15.4 14.4 10.0 9.5

WAMCO Global Fixed Interest Apr-05 329,793         344,259        4.3 4.6 1.8 3.3 5.4 5.6 6.2 6.6

WAMCO GMS Global Multi Strategy FI Sep-11 174,932         183,405        4.8 0.7 -0.6 2.8 4.5 2.6 3.5 2.6

Hermes UK Property Apr-05 139,735         140,675        0.5 0.3 6.7 5.7 8.1 6.9 6.8 5.1

CBREI Global Property Jun-11 60,995           61,678          1.1 0.5 7.3 5.4 6.7 7.1 9.0 8.4

Golub Private Debt Jul-17 11,778           20,145          -1.2 1.5 17.4 5.9 N/A N/A 8.7 5.7

Blue Bay Private Debt Aug-17 18,286           22,252          1.4 1.5 8.1 5.9 N/A N/A 7.2 5.7

Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Venture Capital 4,863             4,944            1.9 N/A -7.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

In-house Cash Cash 8,941             8,055            N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Fund Manager Cash Cash 3,206             1,283            N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Brunel Pension Partnership Mandates

Brunel - Fundrock UK Active Equity Nov-18 333,557         365,801        9.7 9.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 6.0 6.0

Brunel PP - LGIM Low Carbon Equities Jul-18 46,080           50,750          10.1 10.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1.1 1.2

Brunel PP - LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Unhdg) Jul-18 116,104         127,496        9.8 9.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0.9 1.0

Brunel PP - LGIM Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Jul-18 111,531         124,997        12.1 12 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4

Brunel PP - LGIM Smart Beta Jul-18 199,606         217,971        9.2 9.3 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1.4 1.6

Brunel - Colmore Infrastructure Jan-19 -                 1,797            -9.5 -0.1 N/A N/A N/A N/A -9.5 -0.1

Brunel - Colmore Private Equity Mar-19 480                N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 9.4 2.4

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,198,675     2,373,413     7.3 6.8 5.0 6.9 10.1 10.4 7.6 8.1

Key:

GARS - Global Absolute Return Strategy

WAMCO - Western Asset Management Company

GMS - Global Multi Strategy

TVP - Technology Venture Partners

Brunel PP - Brunel Pension Partnership

LGIM - Legal & General Investment Management

"Unhdg" - Unhedged

"Hdg" - Hedged

Non-performance related changes in the quarter:

Blue Bay - Capital Call 03/01/2019 £3,996,588.49

Golub - Capital Call 07/01/2019 $2,500,000.00

Golub - Capital Call 11/01/2019 $6,250,000.00

3 Years to 31-Mar-19 

Annualised Return

1 Year to 31-Mar-19 Total 

Return

3 Months to 31-Mar-19 Total 

Return

Since Inception to 31-Mar-19 

Annualised Return

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council
Pension Fund

Performance Report to March 31, 2019

P
age 35



Market Overview
Market Commentary 1

Client Information
Market Value by Manager 2

Total Client
Performance Overview 3
Performance Summary 4-6
Manager Attribution 7-8
Ex Post Risk 9-10

Disclaimer Page 11

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Table of Contents

State Street Global Services Performance Services
Confidential

P
age 36



Market Commentary

 

 
 

Gloucestershire Q1 2019 

Although economic growth downgrades were omnipresent during the first quarter, the related dovish shift from central banks and easing trade tensions 
allowed for gains across global stock markets. The MSCI AC World Index achieved a total return of 9.6% in GBP terms as investors drove markets back 
up from the lows of Q4. Commodities were strong performers helped by signs of stabilisation in China’s economy and easing trade tensions, industrial 
metals pushed higher. Meanwhile, oil exporters tightened production in response to excess supply, underpinning a 27% rise in Brent crude prices.     

 
Despite the ongoing uncertainty posed by Brexit, the FTSE All Share Index participated in the global equity upswing to achieve a positive return of 9.4% in 
Q1; the withdrawal agreement was defeated in the House of Commons three times and Brexit delayed until at least April 12. However, sterling gains 
dragged somewhat on companies with overseas revenues. The market was led higher by technology and materials sectors, with the latter benefiting from 
improving commodity prices. Healthcare and communications services were among the poorer performers.    
 
Europe’s stock markets rallied despite worries about Brexit, slowing economic growth and a sharp drop in German manufacturing activity. The Europe ex 
UK Index returned 8.0% to a GBP investor. 
The US stock market recovered from its worst quarter since 2011, posting a total return of 10.5%. Technology stocks returned to favour to be the top 
performer in the three months. Real estate benefited from the shifting interest rate backdrop, something that in turn weighed on financials as the flatter 
(indeed inverting) yield curve dampened enthusiasm for banks. Healthcare was the one sector to underperform financials.  
Japan’s Equity Index advanced 4.4%, aided in part by signs of progress on US-China trade talks.  

In the wider Asia-Pacific region, the Equity market in aggregate returned 9%. China was a star performer, returning 15% on trade optimism and as authorities 
increased infrastructure investment and supported bank credit growth. Hong Kong’s Index gained 12.9%. Australia and New Zealand markets rose by 8.9% 
and 14.2% respectively. An abrupt end to the US-North Korea summit dampened enthusiasm for South Korean stocks somewhat; the Index returned a 
comparatively modest 2.6%.  
Emerging Markets also had a strong quarter, returning 7.5% for a GBP investor. 

Fixed income returns were also positive as declining interest rates, flatter and inverted yield curves and increased fund flows into fixed income asset classes 
suggest a worrisome outlook for the global economy.  Over the quarter, the FTSE Gilts over 5 year Index returned 4.6% and the FTSE UK Index Linked 
over 5 year Index returned 6.3%. The ICE BoAML Non Gilt Index returned 4.2%. 

 
Among developed market currencies, the British pound was a top performer over the quarter, gaining 4% against the Euro, 3% against Japan’s Yen and 
2% against the US Dollar in a period when optimism around Brexit ebbed and flowed. 

 
The three-month LIBID rate was 0.1% and Property had another positive quarter, returning 0.5%. 

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Market Overview

1 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 37



Fund Structure By Mandate

Manager Mandate Performance Target Benchmark Indices BMV '000s EMV '000s Difference Actual Weight

Aberdeen Standard UK Equity B/M +2% net FTSE All Share 2% Capped 1,193 1,194 1 0.05

Brunel – Fundrock UK Active Equity Benchmark FTSE All Share 333,557 365,801 32,244 15.41
Brunel – Colmore Infrastructure Benchmark Consumer Price Index 0 1,797 1,797 0.08
Brunel – Colmore Private Equity Benchmark MSCI ACWI 0 480 480 0.02
Aberdeen Standard - GARS Global Absolute Return Benchmark 6M GBP LIBOR +5% 75,219 78,167 2,948 3.29

Blackrock EM
Emerging Markets 
Passive

Benchmark MSCI Emerging Markets 132,891 142,740 9,849 6.01

Blackrock Global Global Equities B/M +1-2% gross MSCI ACWI 431,158 476,518 45,360 20.08
Brunel - LGIM Passive Low Carbon Eq Benchmark MSCI World Low Carbon 46,080 50,750 4,670 2.14
Brunel - LGIM Passive Developed Eq Benchmark FTSE World Developed 116,104 127,496 11,392 5.37

Brunel - LGIM Passive Dev. Eq Hedged Benchmark FTSE World Dev Hedged 111,531 124,997 13,466 5.27

Brunel - LGIM Passive Smart Beta Benchmark SciBeta Multifactor B/M 199,606 217,971 18,365 9.18

WAMCO Global Fixed Interest B/M +1% net
ICE BoAML Sterling Non 
Gilts

329,793 344,259 14,466 14.50

WAMCO GMS Global Multi Strategy FI Benchmark 3M GBP LIBOR +2% 174,932 183,405 8,473 7.73
Hermes Property B/M +0.5% net MSCI UK PPF Bal PUT 139,735 140,675 940 5.93
CBREI - GMM Property B/M +0.5% net MSCI All Bal Property Fund 60,995 61,678 683 2.60
Golub Private Debt Benchmark 3M GBP LIBOR +5% 11,778 20,145 8,367 0.85
Blue Bay Private Debt Benchmark 3M GBP LIBOR +5% 18,286 22,252 3,966 0.94
Yorkshire Fund Manager/TVP Venture Capital n/a n/a 4,863 4,944 81 0.21
Cash Cash n/a n/a 8,941 8,055 -886 0.34
Blackrock Cash Cash n/a n/a 38 39 1 0.00
Brunel PM Cash Cash n/a n/a 1,975 52 -1,923 0.00

Gloucestershire CC 2,198,676 2,373,413 174,737 100.00

Beginning Market Value as of
Dec 31 2018

Quarterly Ending Market Value as
of Mar 31 2019 Difference Actual Weight

SciBeta Multi Factor Asia Pac 8,612,903 9,568,684 955,781 0.40

SciBeta Multi Factor Japan 17,187,595 17,660,806 473,211 0.74

SciBeta Multi Factor Nth America 129,446,874 142,913,329 13,466,454 6.02

SciBeta Multi Factor EMEA Ex UK 32,154,578 34,582,526 2,427,948 1.46

SciBeta Multi Factor UK 12,203,670 13,245,214 1,041,544 0.56

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Market Value by Manager

2 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 38



3 Month
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Year
(% p.a.)

5 Year
(% p.a.)

10 Year
(% p.a.)

Since Inception
(% p.a.)

Gloucestershire County Council 7.3 5.0 5.0 10.1 8.4 11.2 7.6

Gloucestershire Strategic Benchmark 6.8 6.9 6.9 10.4 9.3 11.0 8.1

Excess 0.6 -1.8 -1.8 -0.4 -0.9 0.1 -0.5

Fund Performance - Net

Gloucestershire County Council Gloucestershire Strategic Benchmark

3 Month Fiscal YTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year Since Inception

-10.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

R
et

ur
n 

(%
)

Fund Performance - Net

Gloucestershire County Council Gloucestershire Strategic Benchmark

3 Month Fiscal YTD 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year Since Inception

-10.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

R
et

ur
n 

(%
)

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Client Overview compared with Strategic Benchmark

3 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 39



Actual Performance v Strategic Benchmark
Ending

Market Value
(Million)

Weight
(%)

3 Month
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Year
(% p.a.)

5 Year
(% p.a.)

10 Year
(% p.a.)

Since Inception
(% p.a.) Inception Date

Brunel UK Active Equity 365.8 15.4% 9.7 - - - - - 6.0 Nov-18

FTSE All Share - - 9.4 - - - - - 6.0 Nov-18

Excess - - 0.3 - - - - - 0.0 -

Brunel - PM Infrastructure 1.8 0.1% -9.5 - - - - - -9.5 Jan-19

Consumer Price Index - - -0.1 - - - - - -0.1 Jan-19

Excess - - -9.4 - - - - - -9.4 -

Brunel - PM Private Equity 0.5 0.0% - - - - - - 9.4 Mar-19

MSCI AC World Index - - - - - - - - 2.4 Mar-19

Excess - - - - - - - - 7.0 -

Aberdeen Standard GARS 78.2 3.3% 3.8 -0.0 -0.0 0.8 1.8 - 2.8 Nov-12

Aberdeen Standard GARS Benchmark - - 1.5 6.0 6.0 5.7 5.7 - 5.7 Nov-12

Excess - - 2.3 -6.1 -6.1 -4.9 -3.9 - -2.9 -

Blackrock Emerging Markets 142.7 6.0% 7.4 -0.1 -0.1 14.5 9.3 - 7.3 Jan-12

Blackrock EM Benchmark - - 7.4 -0.3 -0.3 14.4 8.9 - 7.0 Jan-12

Excess - - -0.0 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4 - 0.3 -

Blackrock Global Equity 476.5 20.1% 10.5 8.1 8.1 15.4 12.8 13.8 10.0 Apr-05

Blackrock Global Equity Benchmark - - 9.6 10.5 10.5 14.4 11.8 12.7 9.5 Apr-05

Excess - - 0.8 -2.3 -2.3 1.0 1.0 1.1 0.6 -

Passive Developed Equities 127.5 5.4% 9.8 - - - - - 0.9 Jul-18

FTSE World Developed - - 9.8 - - - - - 1.0 Jul-18

Excess - - 0.0 - - - - - -0.0 -

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Summary of Performance - Net

4 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 40



Actual Performance v Strategic Benchmark
Ending

Market Value
(Million)

Weight
(%)

3 Month
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Year
(% p.a.)

5 Year
(% p.a.)

10 Year
(% p.a.)

Since Inception
(% p.a.) Inception Date

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) 125.0 5.3% 12.1 - - - - - -0.5 Jul-18

FTSE World Developed Hedged - - 12.0 - - - - - -0.4 Jul-18

Excess - - 0.0 - - - - - -0.1 -

Passive Low Carbon Equities 50.8 2.1% 10.1 - - - - - 1.1 Jul-18

MSCI Low Carbon Target - - 10.2 - - - - - 1.2 Jul-18

Excess - - -0.0 - - - - - -0.1 -

Passive Smart Beta 218.0 9.2% 9.2 - - - - - 1.4 Jul-18

SciBeta Multifactor Composite - - 9.3 - - - - - 1.6 Jul-18

Excess - - -0.1 - - - - - -0.2 -

WAMCO 344.3 14.5% 4.3 1.8 1.8 5.4 6.8 9.1 6.2 Apr-05

WAMCO Benchmark - - 4.6 3.3 3.3 5.6 7.2 7.7 6.6 Apr-05

Excess - - -0.2 -1.4 -1.4 -0.1 -0.4 1.4 -0.5 -

WAMCO GMS 183.4 7.7% 4.8 -0.6 -0.6 4.5 2.9 - 3.5 Sep-11

WAMCO GMS Benchmark - - 0.7 2.8 2.8 2.6 2.6 - 2.6 Sep-11

Excess - - 4.0 -3.4 -3.4 1.9 0.4 - 0.8 -

Hermes 140.7 5.9% 0.5 6.7 6.7 8.1 11.1 10.5 6.8 Apr-05

Hermes Benchmark - - 0.3 5.7 5.7 6.9 9.6 8.6 5.1 Apr-05

Excess - - 0.2 1.0 1.0 1.2 1.5 1.9 1.7 -

CBREI 61.7 2.6% 1.1 7.3 7.3 6.7 9.1 - 9.0 Jun-11

CBREI Benchmark - - 0.5 5.4 5.4 7.1 9.7 - 8.4 Jun-11

Excess - - 0.6 1.9 1.9 -0.4 -0.5 - 0.7 -

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Summary of Performance - Net

5 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 41



Actual Performance v Strategic Benchmark
Ending

Market Value
(Million)

Weight
(%)

3 Month
(%)

Fiscal YTD
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Year
(% p.a.)

5 Year
(% p.a.)

10 Year
(% p.a.)

Since Inception
(% p.a.) Inception Date

Golub 20.1 0.8% -1.2 17.4 17.4 - - - 8.7 Jul-17

Golub Benchmark - - 1.5 5.9 5.9 - - - 5.7 Jul-17

Excess - - -2.7 11.5 11.5 - - - 3.0 -

Bluebay 22.3 0.9% 1.4 8.1 8.1 - - - 7.2 Aug-17

Bluebay Benchmark - - 1.5 5.9 5.9 - - - 5.7 Aug-17

Excess - - -0.0 2.2 2.2 - - - 1.5 -

Yorkshire Fund Managers 4.9 0.2% 1.9 -7.4 -7.4 - - - - Oct-17

Cash 8.1 0.3% 0.0 0.7 0.7 - - - - Oct-17

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Summary of Performance - Net

6 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 42



Fund Weight Target Weight

Equities Fixed Interest Property Other
0.00

15.00

30.00

45.00

60.00

75.00

Fund Weight Target Weight

Equities Fixed Interest Property Other
0.00

15.00

30.00

45.00

60.00

75.00

Quarter Ending 31 March 2019
Market Value at End of Quarter

(£000)
Actual % Allocation at End of

Quarter Strategic Asset Allocation % % Difference

Gloucestershire County Council 2,373,413 100.00 100.00 -0.00

Equities 1,507,506 63.52 58.50 5.02

Aberdeen Standard Investments 1,194 0.05 0.00 0.05

Brunel UK Active Equity 365,801 15.41 13.00 2.41

Blackrock Emerging Markets 142,740 6.01 4.00 2.01

Blackrock Global Equity 476,518 20.08 19.00 1.08

Passive Low Carbon Equities 50,750 2.14 2.00 0.14

Passive Developed Equities 127,496 5.37 5.50 -0.13

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) 124,997 5.27 5.50 -0.23

Passive Smart Beta 217,971 9.18 9.50 -0.32

Blackrock Cash 39 0.00 0.00 0.00

Fixed Interest 527,663 22.23 24.50 -2.27

WAMCO 344,259 14.50 17.00 -2.50

WAMCO GMS 183,405 7.73 7.50 0.23

Property 202,352 8.53 7.50 1.03

Hermes 140,675 5.93 5.00 0.93

CBREI 61,678 2.60 2.50 0.10

Other 135,892 5.73 9.50 -3.77

Aberdeen Standard GARS 78,167 3.29 4.00 -0.71

Golub 20,145 0.85 1.50 -0.65

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Manager Attribution - Net

7 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 43



Quarter Ending 31 March 2019
Market Value at End of Quarter

(£000)
Actual % Allocation at End of

Quarter Strategic Asset Allocation % % Difference

Bluebay 22,252 0.94 2.00 -1.06

Yorkshire Fund Managers 4,944 0.21 0.00 0.21

Cash 8,055 0.34 0.00 0.34

Brunel - PM Cash 52 0.00 0.00 0.00

Brunel - PM Infrastructure 1,797 0.08 1.00 -0.92

Brunel - PM Private Equity 480 0.02 1.00 -0.98

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Manager Attribution - Net

8 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 44



Risk v Return - over 3 years

Gloucestershire County Council Gloucestershire Strategic Benchmark Aberdeen Standard Investments Aberdeen Standard Benchmark Aberdeen Standard GARS Aberdeen Standard GARS Benchmark

Blackrock Emerging Markets Blackrock EM Benchmark Blackrock Global Equity Blackrock Global Equity Benchmark WAMCO WAMCO Benchmark WAMCO GMS WAMCO GMS Benchmark Hermes

Hermes Benchmark CBREI CBREI Benchmark

0.00 4.00 8.00 12.00 16.00 20.00 24.00

Risk (Standard Deviation)

0.00

4.00

8.00

12.00

16.00

20.00

24.00

A
nn

ua
liz

ed
  R

et
ur

n
Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Ex Post Risk - Net

9 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 45



Risk Statistics by Manager - over 3 years
Annualized

Return
Standard
Deviation

Benchmark
Return

Benchmark
Standard Deviation Tracking Error Information Ratio

Gloucestershire County Council 10.1 6.6 10.4 6.8 1.8 -0.2

Aberdeen Standard Investments 4.6 9.5 8.7 9.2 5.7 -0.7

Aberdeen Standard GARS 0.8 3.8 5.7 0.1 3.8 -1.3

Blackrock Emerging Markets 14.5 14.1 14.4 14.1 1.1 0.2

Blackrock Global Equity 15.4 10.5 14.4 10.2 1.8 0.6

WAMCO 5.4 7.6 5.6 8.1 1.3 -0.1

WAMCO GMS 4.5 4.3 2.6 0.1 4.3 0.5

Hermes 8.1 2.0 6.8 2.7 2.9 0.5

CBREI 6.7 2.6 6.9 2.6 3.2 -0.1

Golub

Bluebay

Yorkshire Fund Managers

Cash

Blackrock Cash

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund
Report to March 31, 2019

Ex Post Risk - Net

10 of 11
State Street Global Services Performance Services

Confidential

P
age 46



This report was prepared for you by State Street Bank and Trust Company (or its affiliates, “State Street”) utilizing scenarios, assumptions and reporting formats as mutually agreed between you and State Street.  While reasonable
efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this report, there is no guarantee, representation or warranty, express or implied, as to its accuracy or completeness.  This information is provided “as-
is” and State Street disclaims any and all liability and makes no guarantee, representation, or warranty with respect to your use of or reliance upon this information in making any decisions or taking (or not taking) any actions.  State
Street does not verify the accuracy or completeness of any data, including data provided by State Street for other purposes, or data provided by you or third parties.  You should independently review the report (including, without
limitation, the assumptions, market data, securities prices, securities valuations, tests and calculations used in the report), and determine that the report is suitable for your purposes.

State Street provides products and services to professional and institutional clients, which are not directed at retail clients.  This report is for informational purposes only and it does not constitute investment research or investment,
legal or tax advice, and it is not an offer or solicitation to buy or sell any product, service, or securities or any financial instrument, and it does not transfer rights of any kind (except the limited use and redistribution rights described
below) or constitute any binding contractual arrangement or commitment of any kind.  You may use this report for your internal business purposes and, if such report contains any data provided by third party data sources,
including, but not limited to, market or index data, you may not redistribute this report, or an excerpted portion thereof, to any third party, including, without limitation, your investment managers, investment advisers, agents,
clients, investors or participants, whether or not they have a relationship with you or have a reasonable interest in the report, without the prior written consent of each such third party data source.  You are solely responsible and
liable for any and all use of this report.

Copyright © 2019 State Street Corporation, All rights reserved.

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Pension Committee
10th May 2019

Brunel Pension Partnership – Investment Portfolio’s Update

Report of the Strategic Finance Director

This short update report provides the Committee with an update on:

 the timetable for the implementation of the BPP Investment Portfolio’s,
 the allocation ranges agreed by Committee under the current strategic asset 

allocation, and
 the level of investments already made in the portfolio’s implemented to date.

Timetable for the implementation of the Brunel Pension Partnership 
Investment Portfolio’s and the agreed allocations of the Gloucestershire Fund.

Investment Portfolio Planned 
Implementation 
Date

Within the current 
Gloucestershire 
agreed strategic 
asset allocation?

Agreed 
allocation 

range (% of 
Fund Value)

UK Equities – Passive Implemented No 0%
Developed Equities - Passive Implemented Yes 9% to 13%
EM Equities – Passive Implemented No 0%
Low Carbon Equities  - Passive Implemented Yes 1% to 3%
Smart Beta – Passive Implemented Yes 8% to 11%
UK Equities – Active Implemented Yes 12% to 15%
Low Volatility  Equities Implemented No 0%
Private Equity Implemented Yes 0.5% to 2%
Infrastructure Implemented Yes 0.5% to 2%
Secured Income Implemented No 0%
Passive Bonds July 2019 No 0%
EM Equities – Active August 2019 Yes 5.5% to 8.5%
High Alpha Dev Equities - Active November 2019 Yes 11% to 17%
Diversified Growth Fund December 2019 Yes 3% to 5%
Core Global Equities - Active March 2020 No 0%
Multi Asset Credit July 2020 Yes 6.5% to 8.5%
Sustainable Equities – Active July 2020 Yes 1% to 3%
Smaller Companies – Active August 2020 No 0%
Sterling Corporate Bonds September 2020 Yes 17% to 22% 
Hedge Funds March 2021 No 0%
Global Bonds April 2021 No 0%
Equity Protection June 2021 No 0%
Property In Discussion Yes 5.5% to 9.5%
Private Debt In Discussion Yes 3% to 4.5%

Page 49

Agenda Item 10



Allocations made by the Gloucestershire Fund to date

Investment Portfolio Amount 
invested £m

Drawdown Arrangements

Developed Equities - Passive 250 Fully Invested
Low Carbon Equities  - Passive 50 Fully Invested
Smart Beta – Passive 210 Fully Invested
UK Equities – Active 350 Fully Invested
Private Equity 41 Funds drawn down as investments made
Infrastructure 41 Funds drawn down as investments made
TOTAL TO DATE 942

Recommendation

That the Committee notes the update report.

Contact Officer

Mark Spilsbury - Head of Pension Fund (01452 328920)

Page 50



Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Information Classification: Public

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 11



Contents

Page 3     -    About Brunel and News

Page 4     -    Executive Summary

Page 5     -    Market Summary - Chief Investment Officer

Page 9     -    Market Summary - Head of Private Markets

Page 12     -    Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Page 15     -    High Level Performance of Pension Fund

Page 16     -    Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Page 17     -    High Level Performance of Pension Fund - Risk Summary

Page 18     -    Brunel Portfolios Overview

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public

Gloucestershire County Council

Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Page 2 of 33

P
age 52



About Brunel and News

About Brunel

Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel) was established on 18 July 2017 as one of eight national Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
Pools. The pool brings together circa £30 billion investments of 10 likeminded funds.

We manage the investments for the pension funds of Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency,
Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset and Wiltshire.

Brunel is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168.

Brunel News

As 2019 got underway, Brunel hit the ground running, with many projects and business developments progressing.

• In January we launched our Emerging Markets manager search

• We started research on the Global High Alpha mandate prior to inviting Expressions of Interest

• We’ve been working with decision makers via involvement in consultations on matters that can impact on investments. On our Policy
Advocacy page on the Brunel website, you can view our latest responses

• CIO Mark wrote guest articles on the subject of Brunel’s pioneering Asset Management Accord for Local Government Chronicle and on the
topic of long-termism for mallowstreet

• Richard Fanshawe wrote a piece for the Brunel website on our aims of making a positive difference through our investment choices:
https://bit.ly/2Gxj6IW

• In February, Brunel Chair Denise Le Gal won the title of European Influencer of the Year at II Magazine&apos;s Peer-to-Peer Awards

Gloucestershire County Council

Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019Information Classification: Public

Forging better futures

Page 3 of 33

P
age 53

https://bit.ly/2XGNbNi
https://bit.ly/2XGNbNi
https://bit.ly/2Gxj6IW


Executive Summary

High Level Performance

The Fund delivered 7.3% on an absolute basis over Q1; on a relative basis the Fund outperformed by
0.5% against its target benchmark. The absolute return over the one-year period is 5%,
underperforming on a one-year basis by -1.8%.

The key driver of positive performance this quarter was the Fund’s exposure to global equity, with
the MSCI ACWI experiencing its strongest quarter since Q1 2013. The BlackRock Global Equity active
fund returned 10.4% on a total return basis, contributing 2% to absolute return due to its 20%
weighting in the Fund. The Brunel passive products contributed 2.2% to Fund performance. Notably,
the hedged passive developed product returned 12.1% on a total returns basis as it also benefited
from the 2.3% return of GBP vs the USD.

UK equity also exhibited positive performance over the quarter, with the FTSE All share increasing by
9.4%. The Brunel UK active equity portfolio provided a total return of 9.7%, contributing 1.5% to
absolute return and 0.2% to relative outperformance.

Fixed income funds also contributed positively to performance, collectively contributing 1% to
absolute performance. Notably, WAMCO multi strategy outperformed its benchmark by 4% and
contributed 0.3% to relative outperformance.

Key Points:
• 7.3% Absolute Net Performance Q1
• 0.5% Relative Net Outperformance vs Benchmark Q1
• 5% Absolute Net Performance 1Y
• -1.8% Relative Net Underperformance vs Benchmark 1Y

Fund Specific Events

Brunel finalised two commitments in the Private Equity portfolio, one in late Q4 18 to the Capital
Dynamics Global Secondary Fund V and one in Q1 19 to the Neuberger Berman PE Impact Fund.

Total
(GBPm)

 31 Dec 2018 2,199

 31 Mar 2019 2,373

 Net cash inflow (outflow) 13

Total Pool Valuation

Dec Mar
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Assets Transitioned to Brunel

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 4 of 33

P
age 54



Market Summary – Chief Investment Officer

10 - 2 Year Yield Spreads

UK Real Yields
Long Term Index Linked

Fixed Income

Q1 19 proved to be a strong period for all areas of fixed income. Strong returns were driven by falls in
both yields and corporate spreads. The decrease in yield was partially driven by slowing inflation
expectations across the globe.

The most significant yield decreases occurred in Europe. German and French 10yr bond yields fell by
31 and 39bps respectively over the quarter. The best performing asset class within fixed income was
UK index linked gilts, which returned +6.0% in local terms. The lowest performing asset class was US
Treasuries, which returned +2.1% in local terms over the quarter.

• UK consumer price inflation (CPI) slowed year to date, with February 2019 YoY CPI measuring at
1.9%

This has decreased by -0.2% over the quarter. Inflation also eased in the US and Europe, with US
inflation registering at 1.9% for March. This is significantly below the range of 2-3% observed in the US
throughout 2018. German and French inflation also remained stubbornly low at 1.6% & 1.1%
respectively.

• Longer dated (25yr+) real yields in the UK index linked market continued to fall further on the
quarter, touching a low point of -2.0% in late March

However, real yields rebounded to -1.8% by the end of the quarter. Consequently, the price return on
UK index linked gilts was strong, returning +6.0% in GBP terms in Q1 19.

• The Federal Reserve surprised financial markets in March by announcing a pause in monetary
tightening; the U-turn was driven by waning global economic momentum

Policy makers decided unanimously to keep the target range for the Federal Funds rate between
2.25-2.5%, however, they also signalled that there will be no further rate rises in 2019, which sent bond
yields lower. Many market participants have interpreted potential rate cuts in 2019 as a result.

• Yield curves from the US, UK and Europe have continued to flatten throughout Q1 19

The US, in particular, is showing signs of inversion, with almost no difference between 10 and 2yr
bond yields at the end of the quarter. This phenomenon last occurred in 2007, months before the
global financial crisis. Negative 10-2yr yield spreads have accurately predicted the last 3 recessions in
the United States.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 5 of 33

P
age 55



Market Summary – Chief Investment Officer

• Corporate spreads decreased significantly year to date. This proved to be highly
supportive for UK corporate bonds which have returned +4.6% in local terms year to date

The option adjusted spread on UK corporate bonds (iBoxx) fell from 191 to 166bps over the
quarter. This is the lowest level observed since October 2018. However, this remains
comfortably above the lows of January 2018 where spreads were 120bps.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 6 of 33

P
age 56



Market Summary – Chief Investment Officer

Equity

In contrast to the difficult end of 2018, Global equity markets have rebounded in Q1 19 and
experienced their strongest quarter since Q1 2013, MSCI ACWI returned 9.8% in sterling terms. This
rebound has been largely driven by easing tensions between China and the US in their trade dispute;
their domestic markets returned 15% and 11.1% respectively over the quarter in sterling terms.

• US equities rebounded from the negative returns seen in Q4 18 as the Fed adjusted their planned
interest rate hikes, which had previously exacerbated a decline, to compensate for this slowing
momentum. The S&P 500 posted a significant return of 8% in January alone, in USD terms

The trade tensions between the US and China seemed to ease over the quarter as a resolution draws
closer, which fuelled equity returns further.

However, sentiment cooled towards the end of the quarter as economic data pointed towards a
slowing economy, with the Fed lowering projections for growth and inflation. These adjustments
caused the treasury yield curve to invert, as previously mentioned. This is a signal that has historically
been linked to an upcoming recession.

• Emerging markets also rebounded in Q1 19 to post significant gains of 7.5%, this was driven by the
positive returns in Chinese equity markets

The agreement by the US to suspend tariff hikes on Chinese goods and the plans for MSCI to
increase China A share exposure in their index resulted in quarterly gains of 30% for the China A
share index, in USD terms.

Towards the end of the quarter, economic data from China slowed sentiment as growth was
downgraded to 6.5%, its lowest since 1990. Exports also decreased by -20%. This is the steepest
decline in three years.

A 25.6% rally in the price of oil benefitted oil exporting emerging countries such as Russia.

• European markets returned 8.5% over Q1 19

In a stark contrast to last quarter, Tech and Industrial sectors were the strongest performers over the
quarter, as expected, as they are considered to be more economically sensitive areas.

Growth continues to be a problem in Europe, the Eurozone, growing by 0.2% in Q4 18. Germany

Global Indices
1 Year Returns

US Dollars Per British Pound
Currency Movement

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 7 of 33

P
age 57



Market Summary – Chief Investment Officer

posted 0% growth, whilst Italy slipped into Recession. Mario Draghi is due to leave the ECB in
November; since taking up his position in October in 2011, he would have only ever cut interest rates,
a good indicator for the growth problems across Europe.

• FTSE All share rallied over Q4 18 to post returns of 9.4%, in line with the MSCI ACWI

The Brexit delay was seen as a positive sign in some sectors of the UK equities market, as it increased
the chances that a disorderly Brexit could be avoided. UK employment fell to 3.9%, its lowest since
1975 as wage growth continued to increase.

In contrast to the equity market, the GBP currency exhibited large amounts of volatility over the
quarter as it moved with Brexit-related news. It settled with a return 2.3% vs the dollar over the
quarter.

• Oil rallied in Q1 19, with Brent Crude Oil returning 25.6% in dollar returns

Oil supply has been tightened over the quarter with OPEC cutting production and the US sanctions
on Venezuela.

Gold fell slightly in sterling terms, returning -0.95% after an exceptional return of 9.68% for Q4 18.

Sterling returns for indices:
- FTSE All-Share: 9.4% (3m) 6.4% (12m)
- MSCI Europe: 8.5% (3m) 4.3% (12m)
- MSCI Europe ex UK: 8.2% (3m) 3.1% (12m)
- MSCI ACWI: 9.8% (3m) 11.1% (12m)
- MSCI ACWI ex USA: 7.9% (3m) 3.6% (12m)
- MSCI Emerging: 7.5% (3m) 0.05% (12m)
- MSCI China: 15.0% (3m) 1.1% (12m)
- S&P 500: 11.1% (3m) 17.9% (12m)
- GBP Vs USD: 2.3% (3M) -7.1% (12M)

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 8 of 33

P
age 58



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Overview

The last quarter showed mean reversion after the December sell-off with little real improvement in
fundamental economic data. In both Europe and China market data worsened. The turn in
sentiment is mostly due to the dovish stances adopted by the Federal Reserve and European Central
Bank. It now appears that the current low rate environment will persist. Volatility is likely to persist
until better data out of China and Europe puts firmer foundations under the market’s change of
mood.

Manufacturing sectors in Europe and Japan have shown further signs of stress and fatigue as the
engine of the global economy. China continues its steep slowdown with sluggish industrial output
and rising unemployment.

Infrastructure

Brunel’s strategy is to commit 65% of its Infrastructure portfolio to sustainable generalist
Infrastructure funds and 35% to renewable energy generation funds. During Q1 19, Brunel made
commitments to Mirova Core Infrastructure II and NTR Renewable Energy Income Fund II, as shown
in the chart.

Mirova is already over 60% invested, providing good visibility and immediate exposure to a number
of seed assets including the following: a district heating network in Norway (powered by renewable
energy sources), an ultra-fast broadband network in France, an Italian hospital concession and a
number of transport and social infrastructure concessions in Spain. Deployment has been excellent
with several more transactions announced recently.

Likewise, NTR is progressing nicely with a positive update given on the Q1 investor call. The fund has
operational solar and wind assets and returned a small distribution to investors already. One note of
caution was raised, namely that wind turbine manufacturer Senvion has gone into ‘pre-
administration’. NTR has one small wind farm with recently installed Senvion turbines. Brunel is
monitoring the situation with minimal impact expected.

Also during Q1, Brunel received two top-up commitments from two of the six Infrastructure Portfolio
Clients, taking the total to be deployed over £500m. The Private Markets team remains on track to
onward commit this money before the end of the first cycle (April 2020), as demonstrated by two
further commitments being finalised to two geographically distinct renewable energy funds shortly
post quarter end, taking total committed capital up to 37%. As at April 2019, the expected technology

Infrastructure Committed Capital

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 9 of 33

P
age 59



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

mix is 53% solar, 37% onshore wind and 10% other.

Private Equity

Brunel completed two commitments: one in late Q4 18 to the Capital Dynamics Global Secondary
Fund V and one in Q1 19 to the Neuberger Berman PE Impact Fund. There has been one small draw
down called by the secondary fund. A further co-investment fund commitment was aborted in late-
stage due diligence post period end because of irreconcilable differences discovered in the legal
documentation.

Brunel has specifically targeted a Secondary fund to take advantage of any market setbacks in
pricing of private equity fund interests. The best returns during the GFC period were made in
vintages prior to 2008/9, not the crisis year vintage. The Private Markets team remain very vigilant
and are sticking to best practices in portfolio construction, adhering to vintage, strategy, geography,
stage and manager diversification; as well as pacing commitments to avoid trying to time markets.
At the same time, we continue to fight hard on behalf of our Clients for the best fees and terms we
can negotiate, especially given the head-start that lower management fees give investors in
achieving target net returns.

Appetite for private equity remains strong despite concerns about a potential market downturn with
capital becoming more concentrated among a small number of large funds. At the start of Q2 2019,
3,926 funds are seeking an aggregate $1.0 trillion – the private equity fundraising market remains
highly competitive. Over half of all new money raised was directed to the 50 largest funds, with 25%
going to the 10 largest. Despite this, 20% of funds that closed in 2018 failed to reach their fundraising
target.

Private equity funds have delivered strong double-digit returns over the one-, three-, five- and 10-
year periods to June 2018. Industry dry powder continues to reach new records, with $1.26tn held in
private equity funds as of March 2019. Buyout funds account for the majority (59%) of this dry powder,
while venture capital and growth funds hold 17% and 5% of the total, respectively.

Secured Income

Brunel made commitments to two UK long-lease property funds in Q3 18 as part of the 70%
allocation within the Secured Income Portfolio: one to M&G Secured Property Income Fund and the
other to the Aberdeen Standard Long-Lease Property Fund. The latter fund has started drawing
money from Brunel Clients, whilst the M&G fund has a 12 – 24 months’ investor queue owing to

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 10 of 33

P
age 60



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

strong performance (and hence demand). The ASI fund contains the HQ of Interserve which went
into pre-pack administration in March 2019. The good news is that rent is still being paid and the
company paying the rent is not in administration. Brunel will keep Clients informed of any
developments, but this asset represents just 2.4% of the fund’s total income and has decent re-let
potential should the worst come to pass, being in a good location in Birmingham. This risk was
highlighted in Brunel’s pre-investment report to Clients and in a follow-up email to Clients in
December 2018 as the company’s refinancing process ran into trouble.

Aside from the long-lease property funds, the Private Markets team continue to search for suitable
diversifying opportunities to fully commit all Client money in this cycle. A multi-strategy opportunity
has been identified and work is ongoing.

Property

UK commercial property investment started slowly in 2019, with transaction activity 50% lower in the
first two months of 2019 compared with 2018 and investors blaming delayed decisions on Brexit
uncertainty. CBRE has lowered its total return expectations for UK property over the next five years to
3.5% annualised and LGIM are forecasting returns of only 2.6% p.a. for All UK Property to 2023. Though
Industrial continues to be a favoured sector, rents are no longer rising across all locations and the
limited supply conditions have prompted greater Industrial development activity, with around half of
that speculative. The office sector has been surprisingly resilient, although Central London office
rental growth is forecast to be slightly negative in 2019 and 2020. The retail sector continues to
undermine overall property returns, with rents halving on some UK assets and very little
transactional liquidity within funds.

Returns from international real estate remain stronger, with global returns forecast to be in the 5% to
7% range over the next few years. The popularity of gateway cities has pushed yields to historic lows
in many countries. The sectoral preferences of logistics, student accommodation and residential are
common themes internationally, as investors seek to position portfolios defensively.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 11 of 33

P
age 61



Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Vale Dam in Brumadinho, Brazil
Photo by Diego Baravelli commons.wikimedia.org

Supply ChainSupply chain challenges

On 25 January, a failing of the Vale Dam in Brumadinho, Brazil resulted in the tragic loss of hundreds
of lives and livelihoods, and had devastating environmental impact. This is not the first incident:
another dam administered by Vale and Australian company BHP Billiton collapsed in Mariana, Minas
Gerais, in 2015, resulting in 19 deaths. The failing of the Vale Dam is considered the worst
environmental disaster in Brazilian history. A UN report found that the waste from the 2015 disaster
left 400,000 people without drinking water and killed at least 11 tons of fish. The World Mine Tailing
Failures database estimates 19 very serious failures between 2018 and 2027.

In light of these events and current estimates, investors were quick to respond and issue a public call
for:

• A global independent and transparent classification system of the world’s tailing dams should be
created based upon the consequences of failure
• The classification system should have corresponding safety standards and tailing dams should be
independently audited that they are meeting the corresponding standard
• This system should be independent, public and accessible to communities, workers, investors,
insurers, lenders and regulators

We have attended several investor roundtables, bringing together industry experts, investors and
academia to progress improved standards. Following a second assembly, a letter was issued to 683
listed extractive companies asking for specific disclosures on every individual tailing’s facility under
its control. The request was sent by the Church of England Pensions Board and the Swedish Council
on Ethics for the AP Funds. It was supported by 96 investors, including Brunel, with a combined $10.3
trillion (USD) in assets under management. The letter requests public disclosure on company
websites within 45 days, signed by the Chief Executive Officer or Board Chair. Companies have also
been asked to consider how to communicate disclosure to communities that might be affected and
clarify what action they are taking to address any inability to disclose.

In response to the initial public call, an independent global review was announced and co-convened
by the International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM), the Principles for Responsible Investment
(PRI) and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). The Church of England Pensions
Board and the Swedish Council on Ethics for the AP Funds will represent investors, incorporating
recommendations from the investor roundtable. We continue to engage in this area.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 12 of 33

P
age 62

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/resources/idt-sh/brazil_dam_disaster
https://europa.eu/capacity4dev/unep/documents/mine-tailings-storage-safety-no-accident
https://worldminetailingsfailures.org/
https://worldminetailingsfailures.org/
https://worldminetailingsfailures.org/
https://www.icmm.com/en-gb/news/2019/tailings-review


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

.
Climate Change

UK Regulatory Developments

Brunel is committed to supporting the development of public policy and regulations in its
operations, and to promoting the development of a resilient, sustainable finance system. On 30
January 2019, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) issued its review of the UK Stewardship Code.
Brunel officers have been involved extensively throughout the consultation process.

Key points of our response were:

• Strongly supportive of the FRC revision updated definition of stewardship
• Strongly supportive that Stewardship should be considered across all asset classes
• Welcomed explicit recognition of environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors, including
climate change
• Recommended more links and references in the guidance to Task Force Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD)
• Flagged that the code was a massive step forward but also noted a step up in resource implica-
tions and proposed text edits that we believe are smarter and don’t imply more work than was
intended
• Proposed the idea that full compliance and, by extension, resources can be built up over a few
years
• Strongly recommended that the code is promoted and reinforced by other policy makers and
regulators in the UK

Climate Change – Transition Pathway Initiative

Research from the Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI) informs the engagements undertaken by
Climate Action 100+. In Q1 19, the most recent TPI report was on Management Quality and Carbon
Performance of airlines. The report launch attracted global media attention and has led to follow-up
engagement with companies and industry bodies.

The following chart benchmarks airlines on the basis of CO2 emissions intensity. Ryanair is not part of
the TPI benchmark, as it is below the minimum percentage of shares available to foreign investors
required for inclusion in the FTSE Russell index (TPI’s data provider).

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 13 of 33

P
age 63

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Brunel-FRC-Stewardship-Code-Consultation-Response-March-2019.pdf
http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/tpi/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Management-quality-and-carbon-performance-of-airlines-040319-1730.pdf
http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/tpi/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Management-quality-and-carbon-performance-of-airlines-040319-1730.pdf


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 14 of 33

P
age 64



High Level Performance of Pension Fund

Fund Strategic BM Excess

3 Month 7.35 6.76 0.59

Fiscal YTD 5.04 6.88 -1.84

1 Year 5.04 6.88 -1.84

3 Years 10.06 10.41 -0.35

5 Years 8.39 9.27 -0.87

10 Years 11.16 11.01 0.15

Since Inception 7.58 8.11 -0.53

Performance of Fund Against Benchmark Rolling Quarters Total Fund Net of Mgr. Fees

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
2 2

017

Q
3 2

017

Q
4 2

017

Q
1 2

018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

-8.0%

-4.0%

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

Key Drivers of Negative & Positive Performance

Over the reporting period the Fund delivered positive absolute performance as well as outperforming on a relative basis. The key contributors to
positive performance over the period were:

• 20% exposure to BlackRock global equity contributed 2% to Fund performance. BlackRock global equity returned 10.4% on a total returns basis and
outperformed its target by 0.4%. Brunel’s global passive products also contributed 2.2% to absolute performance and all performed in line with their
intended benchmarks
• The Brunel UK equity portfolio provided a total return 9.7% and outperformed the FTSE All share by 0.2%. The exposure of 15.1% contributed 1.5% to
absolute performance and 0.2% to relative outperformance
• Emerging market equities also performed well over the quarter, driven by positive equity returns in China. The BlackRock emerging markets fund
contributed 0.5% to absolute Fund performance.
• The 25% exposure to fixed income WAMCO products also contributed a positive 1% to absolute Fund performance, with the Global multi strategy fund
outperforming its benchmark by 4% and contributing 0.3% to relative outperformance
• Property funds contributed 0.07% to absolute Fund performance, with CBREI exhibiting a total return of 1%

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 15 of 33

P
age 65



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Others, 2.4

Passive Low Carbon 
Equities, 2.1

CBREI, 2.6

Aberdeen GARS, 3.3

Brunel PasDevEq-
Hdgd, 5.3

Brunel PasDevEquities, 
5.4

Hermes, 5.9

Blackrock EM, 6.0

WAMCO GMS, 7.7

Passive Smart Beta, 9.2

Blackrock GE, 20.1

Brunel UK Active 
Equity, 15.4

WAMCO, 14.5

Asset Allocation Split

-2.4% -1.2% 0.0% 1.2% 2.4%

Aberdeen GARS
Aberdeen Inv.
Blackrock EM
Blackrock GE

Bluebay
Brunel - PM Infrastructure

Brunel UK Active Equity
CBREI
Cash

Golub
Hermes

Passive Developed Equities
Passive Developed Equiti...

Passive Low Carbon Equities
Passive Smart Beta

WAMCO
WAMCO GMS
Yorkshire FM

Allocation Against Strategic Benchmark

•
The Fund has overweight positions to UK active equity, BlackRock emerging markets fund and BlackRock global equity. These are complimented
by an underweight position in WAMCO global fixed interest.

• The overweight allocation to UK equity contributed to a positive asset allocation as UK equity outperformed the benchmark over the quarter. The
Brunel UK Active equity portfolio also outperformed the FTSE All Share contributing to positive stock selection

• The overweight position in emerging markets also contributed to a positive asset allocation as the index returned 7.4% over the quarter,
outperforming the total composite benchmark by 0.6%

• The 2% underweight position in WAMCO fixed interest contributed to a positive asset allocation. However, stock selection was slightly negative as
WAMCO underperformed its benchmark on a relative basis by -0.5%

• The 1% overweight position in BlackRock global equity also contributed to both a positive asset allocation and stock selection effect. BlackRock
global equity outperformed its target benchmark by 0.4% over the quarter

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 16 of 33

P
age 66



High Level Performance of Pension Fund – Risk Summary

Total Return Benchm. Return

Brunel UK Active Equity 6.00% 5.98%

Passive Developed Equities 0.91% 0.95%

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) -0.53% -0.43%

Passive Low Carbon Equities 1.07% 1.22%

Passive Smart Beta 1.39% 1.59%

Brunel - PM Infrastructure -9.52% -0.09%

Brunel - PM Private Equity 9.43% 2.45%

Manager Level Performance (Transitioned) – Since Inception

Ann. Return Standard
Deviation

Benchm.
Return

Benchm. Std.
Dev.

Aberdeen GARS 0.82% 3.83% 5.72% 0.09%
Aberdeen Inv. 4.58% 9.51% 8.70% 9.19%
Blackrock EM 14.54% 14.10% 14.36% 14.11%
Blackrock GE 15.39% 10.51% 14.35% 10.23%
CBREI 6.71% 2.60% 7.07% 2.57%
Hermes 8.07% 2.04% 6.88% 2.68%
WAMCO 5.45% 7.59% 5.59% 8.06%
WAMCO GMS 4.50% 4.27% 2.57% 0.07%
Gloucestershire County Council 10.06% 6.60% 10.41% 6.83%

Manager Level Performance (Pre-Transition) – 3 Year

Over the three-year reporting period, the Fund delivered positive absolute performance on an annual basis, however, underperformed by 0.4% on
a relative basis. The key highlights of performance over the period were:

• Hermes Property has provided an absolute return of 8%, outperforming its target benchmark by 1.2% on a three-year annualised basis whilst
exhibiting a lower volatility than its benchmark

• BlackRock emerging markets and BlackRock global equity have provided 14.5% and 15.4% absolute returns respectively. Both funds
outperformed their benchmarks on an absolute basis as well as on a risk-adjusted basis if we consider a simple return per unit of risk metric

• As expected, the passive Brunel portfolios have performed in line with their benchmarks since their inception in mid-2018. The Brunel UK Active
equity portfolio has also performed in line with the FTSE All share on net of fees basis since its inception in November 2018

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 17 of 33

P
age 67



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SI

Excess
SI

Inception
Date

Brunel UK Active Equity FTSE All Share 366 9.67% 0.26% 6.00% 0.03% 21 Nov 2018

Passive Developed
Equities

FTSE World
Developed 127 9.81% 0.00% 0.91% -0.04% 18 Jul 2018

Passive Developed
Equities (Hedged)

FTSE World
Developed Hedged 125 12.07% 0.03% -0.53% -0.10% 18 Jul 2018

Passive Low Carbon
Equities

MSCI Low Carbon
Target 51 10.13% -0.03% 1.07% -0.14% 18 Jul 2018

Passive Smart Beta SciBeta Multifactor
Composite 218 9.20% -0.06% 1.39% -0.20% 31 Jul 2018

Brunel - PM
Infrastructure

Consumer Price
Index 2 -9.52% -9.43% -9.52% -9.43%

Brunel - PM Private
Equity

MSCI AC World
Index 9.43% 6.98%

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 18 of 33

P
age 68



Passive Developed Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low
cost highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

This portfolio is seen to be highly
liquid.

This portfolio is seen to be highly
risk mandate.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £127,496,326

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 9.81 9.81 0.00

 Fiscal YTD 0.00 0.00 0.00

 1 Year 0.00 0.00 0.00

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception 0.91 0.95 -0.04

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
1 2

018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

-12.0%

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

In contrast to the difficult end of 2018, global equity markets have rebounded in Q1 2019 with the MSCI ACWI returning 9.8% in sterling terms over the
quarter. As expected, the passive product performed in line with benchmark.

• The Passive Developed equities hedged portfolio outperformed the unhedged product by 2.3% due to long exposure to GBP. This is representative of
GBP returning 2.3% against USD over the quarter

• Technology, Real Estate and Industrials sectors were the largest contributors to positive returns over the quarter. Notably, Technology has an
allocation of 16% to the MSCI ACWI. Technology returned 19.9% on a total return basis

• On a regional basis, as expected, the USA contributed the majority of positive performance due to its weight of 55% in the index and a total return of
10.9% over the quarter

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 19 of 33

P
age 69



Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

Description

Provide Exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low
cost highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

This portfolio is seen to be highly
liquid.

This portfolio is seen to be highly
risk mandate.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £124,997,463

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 12.07 12.04 0.03

 Fiscal YTD 0.00 0.00 0.00

 1 Year 0.00 0.00 0.00

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception -0.53 -0.43 -0.10

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
1 2

018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

In contrast to the difficult end of 2018, global equity markets have rebounded in Q1 2019 with the MSCI ACWI returning 9.8% in sterling terms over the
quarter. As expected, the passive product performed in line with benchmark.

• The Passive Developed equities hedged portfolio outperformed the unhedged product by 2.3% due to long exposure to GBP. This is representative of
GBP returning 2.3% against USD over the quarter

• Technology, Real Estate and Industrials sectors were the largest contributors to positive returns over the quarter. Notably, Technology has an
allocation of 16% to the MSCI ACWI. Technology returned 19.9% on a total return basis

• On a regional basis, as expected, the USA contributed the majority of positive performance due to its weight of 55% in the index and a total return of
10.9% over the quarter

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 20 of 33

P
age 70



Passive Developed Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

APPLE INC 56,488,528

MICROSOFT CORP 55,973,039

AMAZON.COM INC 45,890,237

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 24,820,623

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 23,500,498

ALPHABET INC-CL C 22,352,761

ALPHABET INC-CL A 22,033,599

EXXON MOBIL CORP 21,436,131

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO 20,974,194

NESTLE SA-REG 17,822,141

VISA INC-CLASS A SHARES 17,225,813

PROCTER & GAMBLE CO/THE 16,228,357

BANK OF AMERICA CORP 15,570,026

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 15,486,108

CISCO SYSTEMS INC 15,330,921

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 15,316,072

PFIZER INC 15,248,142

INTEL CORP 15,138,210

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 14,798,799

CHEVRON CORP 14,693,066

Top 20 Holdings

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

Western Europe  47.44%

North America  41.64%

East Asia & Pacific  10.53%

Middle East & North Africa    0.17%

Europe & Central Asia    0.12%

Latin America & Caribbean    0.07%

Sub-Saharan Africa    0.01%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24%

Consumer Non-cyclical  22.36%

Financial  19.79%

Technology  12.18%

Communications  11.25%

Industrial  10.51%

Consumer Cyclical    9.82%

Energy    5.88%

Basic Materials    4.00%

Utilities    3.34%

Cash    0.34%

Diversified    0.21%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures

Information Classification:Confidential Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 21 of 33

P
age 71



Passive Developed Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 22 of 33

P
age 72



Passive Low Carbon Equities

Description

Provide exposure to equity
returns and global economy
with low exposure to carbon
emissions and fossil fuels.

Portfolio is invested in global
equities in accordance with Low
Carbon index.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £50,750,049

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 10.13 10.16 -0.03

 Fiscal YTD 0.00 0.00 0.00

 1 Year 0.00 0.00 0.00

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception 1.07 1.22 -0.14

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
1 2

018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

-12.0%

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

Passive Low Carbon returned positive performance over the quarter. Performing in line with its MSCI Low Carbon benchmark, the portfolio returned
10.1%.

• The Low Carbon portfolio was positively affected by the global equity market rebounding during Q1. As the US has such a large allocation to global
equities, around 55%, this region was the largest contributor to positive performance

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 23 of 33

P
age 73



Passive Low Carbon Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

APPLE INC 18,086,842

MICROSOFT CORP 17,142,125

AMAZON.COM INC 14,826,761

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 7,914,345

ALPHABET INC-CL A 7,786,254

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 7,633,661

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO 6,791,241

ALPHABET INC-CL C 6,359,313

NESTLE SA-REG 5,780,783

VISA INC-CLASS A SHARES 5,765,974

PROCTER & GAMBLE CO/THE 5,342,487

CISCO SYSTEMS INC 5,237,268

BANK OF AMERICA CORP 5,178,720

INTEL CORP 5,079,948

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 5,075,365

PFIZER INC 5,028,505

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 4,861,068

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 4,833,189

AT&T INC 4,631,660

HOME DEPOT INC 4,432,822

Top 20 Holdings

0% 7% 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

North America  64.17%

Western Europe  22.94%

East Asia & Pacific  12.46%

Latin America & Caribbean    0.24%

Middle East & North Africa    0.17%

Sub-Saharan Africa    0.02%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24%

Consumer Non-cyclical  23.04%

Financial  20.90%

Technology  12.28%

Communications  11.77%

Industrial  10.75%

Consumer Cyclical  10.40%

Energy    4.29%

Basic Materials    3.08%

Utilities    3.03%

Cash    0.28%

Diversified    0.18%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures

Information Classification:Confidential Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 24 of 33

P
age 74



Passive Low Carbon Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 25 of 33

P
age 75



Passive Smart Beta

Description

Exposure to equity markets and
a combination of smart beta
factors to outperform market
cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £217,970,558

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 9.20 9.26 -0.06

 Fiscal YTD 0.00 0.00 0.00

 1 Year 0.00 0.00 0.00

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception 1.39 1.59 -0.20

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
1 2

018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

Passive Smart Beta is a factor-based portfolio that aims to exploit Value, Quality and Low Volatility in a multifactor approach. During the screening
process, Momentum and Size factors are also considered. The fund is constructed by individual regions. The weights of the regions are in line with
MSCI World Index.

• The Smart Beta portfolio returned 9.2% over the quarter, which was in line with the benchmark. It should be noted that global equities rallied over
the quarter with the MSCI ACWI returning 9.8%. The factors selected in the construction of portfolio led the Smart Beta portfolio to underperform
global indices by 0.6%

• The Smart Beta hedged portfolio outperformed the unhedged portfolio due to the long sterling exposure. The hedged portfolio outperformed the
unhedged product by 2.3%, which is representative of the return of GBP vs USD

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 26 of 33

P
age 76



Passive Smart Beta – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

DANAHER CORP 7,421,573

WALMART INC 6,769,284

PFIZER INC 6,654,341

COMCAST CORP-CLASS A 6,633,668

INGERSOLL-RAND PLC 6,625,109

ALLSTATE CORP 6,476,280

AMERICAN ELECTRIC POWER 6,366,467

WORLDPAY INC-CLASS A 6,323,791

ANTHEM INC 6,312,819

DUKE ENERGY CORP 6,277,074

EXXON MOBIL CORP 6,218,692

BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC 6,154,220

ABBOTT LABORATORIES 6,104,257

MONDELEZ INTERNATIONAL INC-A 5,759,596

CONSOLIDATED EDISON INC 5,749,679

SYNOPSYS INC 5,646,339

WALGREENS BOOTS ALLIANCE INC 5,564,429

PPL CORP 5,529,699

PHILLIPS 66 5,499,624

WALT DISNEY CO/THE 5,464,097

Top 20 Holdings

0% 6% 12% 18% 24% 30% 36% 42% 48% 54% 60%

Western Europe  54.21%

North America  37.34%

East Asia & Pacific    7.78%

Middle East & North Africa    0.66%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24%

Consumer Non-cyclical  23.51%

Financial  18.14%

Industrial  12.41%

Consumer Cyclical  11.90%

Utilities  10.56%

Technology    7.52%

Communications    6.30%

Basic Materials    5.23%

Energy    3.94%

Diversified    0.44%

Cash    0.07%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures

Information Classification:Confidential Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 27 of 33

P
age 77



Passive Smart Beta – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 28 of 33

P
age 78



Brunel UK Active Equity

Description

Provide exposure to UK Equities,
together with enhanced returns
from manager skill.

Skilled managers will create
opportunities to add long term
value through stock selection
and portfolio construction.

Managed level of liquidity. Less
exposure to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with
moderate relative risk, around
4% tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

 Investment
 Strategy &
 Key

Risk/
Volatility:

Holding: £365,801,274

All values in % Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 9.67 9.41 0.26

 Fiscal YTD 0.00 0.00 0.00

 1 Year 0.00 0.00 0.00

 3 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 5 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 10 Years 0.00 0.00 0.00

 Since Inception 6.00 5.98 0.03

Quarterly performance Rolling Performance

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.
Q

1 2
018

Q
2 2

018

Q
3 2

018

Q
4 2

018

Q
1 2

019

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

    •  The FTSE All Share index rallied over the quarter to post returns of 9.4%, in line with the broader global equity market rebound. The delay in Brexit
was seen as positive sign in some sectors of the UK equities market, as it increased the chances that a disorderly Brexit could be avoided. UK
unemployment fell to 3.9%; its lowest since 1975 as wage growth continued to increase.
    •
    •  Over the quarter the portfolio has marginally outperformed the FTSE All Share by 0.3%, returning 9.7% versus the FTSE All Share return of 9.4%.
Manager relative performance was mixed over the quarter with Invesco achieving a relative outperformance of 0.27%, Baillie Gifford generally flat
versus the index (+0.06%) and ASI marginally underperforming the FTSE AS (-0.13%).
    •
    •  Since inception on 21 November 2018, the portfolio has returned 4.75%. This is an outperformance of 0.21% versus the FTSE All Share over the same
period, largely driven by outperformance by Invesco and to a lesser extent Baillie Gifford, offsetting a small underperformance from ASI versus the
FTSE AS of -0.29%.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 29 of 33

P
age 79



Brunel UK Active Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-B SHS 73,157,602

BP PLC 65,914,642

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 53,833,762

BHP GROUP PLC 51,395,297

RIO TINTO PLC 51,112,200

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 41,789,758

RELX PLC 40,329,939

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC 40,300,579

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-A SHS 38,374,837

PRUDENTIAL PLC 37,180,455

UNILEVER PLC 35,095,644

DIAGEO PLC 33,749,318

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC 29,216,962

LLOYDS BANKING GROUP PLC 27,310,218

IMPERIAL BRANDS PLC 27,194,411

BURBERRY GROUP PLC 23,494,548

AUTO TRADER GROUP PLC 23,055,370

RIGHTMOVE PLC 21,727,425

ANGLO AMERICAN PLC 21,455,283

MEGGITT PLC 19,890,286

Top 20 Holdings

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Western Europe  94.05%

East Asia & Pacific    3.17%

Middle East & North Africa    1.14%

North America    0.94%

Europe & Central Asia    0.63%

Sub-Saharan Africa    0.07%

Regional Exposure

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24% 26%

Consumer Non-cyclical  24.21%

Financial  20.98%

Consumer Cyclical  12.66%

Energy  12.33%

Basic Materials  10.76%

Industrial    7.46%

Communications    7.21%

Utilities    1.33%

Cash    0.83%

Technology    0.58%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures

Information Classification:Confidential Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 30 of 33

P
age 80



Brunel UK Active Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 31 of 33

P
age 81



Disclaimer

This material is for information only and for the sole use of the recipient, it is not to be reproduced, copied or shared. The report was prepared
utilizing agreed scenarios, assumptions and formats.

Brunel accepts no liability for loss arising for the use of this material and any opinions expressed are current (at time of publication) only. This report is
not meant as a guide to investing or as a source of specific investment recommendations and does not constitute investment research.

Certain information included in this report may have been sourced from third parties. While Brunel believes that such third party information is
reliable, Brunel does not guarantee its accuracy, timeliness or completeness and it is subject to change without notice.
Nothing in this report should be interpreted to state or imply that past performance is an indicator of future performance. References to
benchmarks or indices are provided for information only and do not imply that your portfolio will achieve similar results.

Brunel provides products and services to professional, institutional investors and its services are not directed at, or open to, retail clients.

Forging better futures

Information Classification: Public Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 31 March 2019

Gloucestershire County Council

Page 32 of 33

P
age 82



Information Classification: Public Page 33 of 33

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 85

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 93

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 99

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 117

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 119

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 123

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 127

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 131

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 137

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 141

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 145

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 185

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 187

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes -
	feb 19

	6 Pension Board Minutes
	7 Pension Fund Risk Register
	Risk Register for May 2019 Pension Committee

	8 Pension Fund Business Plan 2019/20
	9 Market Valuations and Quarterly Performance Review of the Pension Fund: Quarter 1
	NET Main Report Q1 2019

	10 Update on investments made with the Brunel Pension Partnership
	11 Brunel Pension Partnership Performance Report for period ending 31 March 2019
	13 Exempt Minutes
	14 Exempt Pension Board Minutes
	15 Independent Advisor Report
	16 Brunel Business Report 30 April 2019 Partnership
	03 - Brunel Business Report - 30 April 2019
	03Appendix 01 - Brunel Business Report - CEO Update
	03Appendix 02 - Brunel Business Report - COO Update
	03Appendix 03 - Brunel Business Report - Summary Management Accounts
	03Appendix 04 - Brunel Business Report - CCRO update
	03Appendix 05 - Brunel Business Report - CIO Update

	17 2019 Actuarial Valuation of the Fund
	18 Actuarial Assumptions
	190501 Gloucestershire CC PF - Committee assumptions paper

	19 Admission Body Requests

